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PART I
Item 1. Business.
During fiscal year 2019, we engaged in the following two businesses:
•

•

a specialty finance company that provides funding to nonprofit community associations primarily located in the state of Florida. We offer incorporated nonprofit
community associations, which we refer to as “Associations,” a variety of financial products customized to each Association’s financial needs. Our original product
offering consists of providing funding to Associations by purchasing their rights under delinquent accounts that are selected by the Associations arising from
unpaid Association assessments. Historically, we provided funding against such delinquent accounts, which we refer to as “Accounts,” in exchange for a portion of
the proceeds collected by the Associations from the account debtors on the Accounts. We have started purchasing Accounts on varying terms tailored to suit each
Association’s financial needs, including under our New Neighbor Guaranty™ program.
a specialty health insurance brokerage through our former subsidiary and specialty health insurance broker, IIU, Inc., a Virginia corporation (“IIU”), that we
purchased on January 16, 2019, from Craven House North America LLC, a Virginia corporation (“Craven”). IIU provided global medical insurance products for
international travelers, specializing in policies covering high-risk destinations, emerging markets and foreign travelers coming to the United States. All policies
were fully underwritten with no claim risk remaining with IIU.

Recent Developments
IIU Acquisition
On November 2, 2018, the Company invested cash by purchasing a Securities Purchase Agreement (the “IIU SPA”) from IIU Inc. (“IIU”), a synergistic Virginia based travel
insurance brokerage company controlled by Craven House North America, LLC (“Craven”) N.A., (whose ownership excluding unexercised warrants was approximately 20% of
the Company’s outstanding stock at the time of the acquisition) pursuant to which IIU issued to the Company a Senior Convertible Promissory Note (“IIU Note”) in the original
principal amount of $1,500,000. The maturity date of the Note was 360 dates after the date of issuance (subject to acceleration upon an event of default). The Note carried a
3.0% interest rate, with accrued but unpaid interest being payable on the Note’s maturity date.
On January 16, 2019, the Company entered into a Stock Purchase Agreement withCraven to purchase all of outstanding capital stock of IIU as a possible synergistic effort to
diversify revenue sources that are believed to be accretive to earnings. IIU provides global medical insurance products for international travelers, specializing in policies
covering high-risk destinations, emerging markets and foreign travelers coming to the United States. All policies are fully underwritten with no claim risk remaining with IIU.
The Company purchased 100% of the issued and outstanding capital stock of IIU from Craven for $5,089,357 subject to adjustment as set forth in the IIU SPA. IIU was
required to have a minimum net working capital of $15,000 and at least $152,000 in cash. The Company paid the Purchase Price under the IIU SPA at closing as follows:
•
•

•

The Company cancelled all principal and accrued interest of the IIU Note, which consisted of aggregate principal indebtedness and accrued interest of $1,507,375
as of January 16, 2019.
The Company issued to Craven a $3,581,982 Senior Convertible Promissory Note (the “Craven Convertible Note”) for the balance of the purchase price. At the
option of Craven, the Craven Convertible Note could be paid in restricted shares of our common stock or cash. The Craven Convertible Note bore simple interest
at 3% per annum. The Craven Convertible Note was due and payable 360 days from the closing date of the IIU SPA. If repaid by the Company in restricted
common stock, the outstanding principal and interest of the Craven Convertible Note would be paid by the Company by issuing to Craven a number of restricted
common shares equal to the adjusted principal and accrued interest owing to Craven under the Craven Convertible Note divided by $2.41.
Pursuant to the terms of the IIU SPA, the purchase price was subsequently reduced by $120,200, to $4,969,200.

On December 20, 2019, the Company loaned $1.5 million to Craven (“Craven Secured Promissory Note”) which had an initial maturity date of April 15, 2020 and carried an
interest rate of 0.5% that is to be paid monthly. The Company subsequently extended the due date of the Craven Secured Promissory Note to August 1, 2021. The Craven
Secured Promissory Note is secured by, among other things, Stock Pledge of Craven’s 640,000 Common Shares of the Company and the Assignment of the assets of Craven in
favor of the Company.
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IIU Disposal
On January 8, 2020, the Company entered into a Stock Purchase Agreement (“SPA”) with Craven pursuant to which the Company sold to Craven all of the issued and
outstanding shares of IIU, Inc., a Virginia based travel insurance brokerage company and wholly owned subsidiary of LMFA (“IIU”), for $3,562,569. The purchase price was
paid by Craven through the cancellation of the $3,461,782 Convertible Promissory Note issued by LMFA to Craven dated January 16, 2019 plus forgiveness of $100,787 of
accrued interest. LMFA originally paid $4,969,200 for the purchase of IIU in January 2019, which included a negative $720,386 net fair value of assets and $5,689,586 of
goodwill. LMFA estimates the sale of IIU will result in a loss of approximately $1.65 million.
Entry into Hanfor Share Exchange Agreement
On March 23, 2020, the Company entered into a Share Exchange Agreement, dated March 23, 2020 (the “Share Exchange Agreement”), withHanfor (Cayman) Limited, a
Cayman Islands exempted company (“Hanfor”), and BZ Industrial Limited, a British Virgin Islands business company and the sole stockholder of Hanfor (“Hanfor
Owner”). The Share Exchange Agreement provides for a business combination transaction in which Hanfor Owner will transfer and assign to the Company all of the share
capital of Hanfor in exchange for a number of shares of the Company’s common stock that will result in Hanfor Owner owning 86.5% of the outstanding common stock of the
Company (the “Hanfor Exchange Transaction”). Upon the closing of the Hanfor Exchange Transaction, Hanfor will become a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. The
parties’ respective obligations to complete the Hanfor Exchange Transaction are subject to various closing conditions, including the approval of the Hanfor Exchange
Transaction by the Company’s stockholders at a duly called stockholder meeting; the receipt of a fairness opinion by the Company’s board of directors for the Hanfor Exchange
Transaction; the absence of a material adverse change in the business, assets, or operations of Hanfor; the exercise of outstanding warrants to purchase at least 729,167 shares of
Company common stock (or Hanfor Owner’s purchase of shares in a private placement in lieu thereof); and various customary closing conditions. The conditions to Hanfor
Owner’s and Hanfor’s obligation to complete the Hanfor Exchange Transaction will include the continued listing of the Company’s common stock on the Nasdaq Stock Market;
the absence of a material adverse change in the business, assets, or operations of the Company; and other customary closing conditions. In addition to the foregoing, the Share
Exchange Agreement contains other customary and negotiated representations, warranties, and covenants, including a covenant not to solicit alternative transactions. Under the
agreement, Hanfor Owner is required to deliver to the Company audited financial statements for Hanfor for the 2019 and 2018 fiscal years, with such audited financial
statements required to be delivered by May 31, 2020 (subject to extension to June 30, 2020 under specified circumstances). In connection with the execution of the Share
Exchange Agreement, the Company and Hanfor Owner entered into a Stock Purchase Agreement, dated March 23, 2020, pursuant to which Hanfor Owner purchased from
Company an aggregate of 520,833 shares of the Company’s common stock at a price of $2.40 per share.
Nasdaq Listing
On March 27, 2020, the Company received a notification letter from the Nasdaq Listing Qualifications department of The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC (“Nasdaq”) stating that
the Company has not regained compliance with Nasdaq Continued Listing Rule 5550(a)(2), which requires the Company’s listed securities to maintain a minimum bid price of
$1.00 per share (the "Minimum Bid Price Rule"). Additionally, on January 3, 2020, the Company received a deficiency letter from Nasdaq, indicating that it was in violation of
Listing Rules 5620(a) and 5810(c)(2)(G) by virtue of passing the applicable deadline for holding of its annual general meeting of shareholders for the financial year ended
December 31, 2018. The notification stated that the Company’s securities would be delisted from the Nasdaq Capital Market on April 7, 2020 unless the Company timely
requested a hearing before a Nasdaq Hearing Panel. The Company has timely requested a hearing, which has been scheduled for April 30, 2020. The delisting of the
Company’s securities has been stayed pending the Nasdaq Hearing Panel’s decision of whether to grant the Company additional time to regain compliance with the Nasdaq
listing requirements.
Specialty Finance Company
We purchase an Associations’ right to receive a portion of the Association’s collected proceeds from owners that are not paying their assessments. After taking assignment of
an Association’s right to receive a portion of the Association’s proceeds from the collection of delinquent assessments, we engage law firms to perform collection work on a
deferred billing basis wherein the law firms receive payment upon collection from the account debtors or a predetermined contracted amount if payment from account debtors is
less than legal fees and costs owed. Under this business model, we typically fund an amount equal to or less than the statutory minimum an Association could recover on a
delinquent account for each Account, which we refer to as the “Super Lien Amount”. Upon collection of an Account, the law firm working on the Account, on behalf of the
Association, generally distributes to us the funded amount, interest, and administrative late fees, with the law firm retaining legal fees and costs collected, and the Association
retaining the balance of the collection. In connection with this
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line of business, we have developed proprietary software for servicing Accounts, which we believe enables law firms to service Accounts efficiently and profitably.
Under the New Neighbor Guaranty program, an Association will generally assign substantially all of its outstanding indebtedness and accruals on its delinquent units to us in
exchange for payment by us of monthly dues on each delinquent unit. This simultaneously eliminates a substantial portion of the Association’s balance sheet bad debts and
assists the Association to meet its budget by receiving guaranteed monthly payments on its delinquent units and relieving the Association from paying legal fees and costs to
collect its bad debts. We believe that the combined features of the program enhance the value of the underlying real estate in an Association and the value of an Association’s
delinquent receivables. We intend to leverage our proprietary software platform, as well as our industry experience and knowledge gained from our original line of business, to
expand the New Neighbor Guaranty program in certain situations and to potentially develop other new products in the future.
Because we acquire and collect on the delinquent receivables of Associations, the Account debtors are third parties about whom we have little or no information. Therefore, we
cannot predict when any given Account will be paid off or how much it will yield. In assessing the risk of purchasing Accounts, we review the property values of the underlying
units, the governing documents of the relevant Association, and the total number of delinquent receivables held by the Association.
Specialty Finance Products
Original Product
Our original product relies upon Florida statutory provisions that effectively protect the principal amount invested by us in each Account. In particular, Section 718.116(1),
Florida Statutes, makes purchasers and sellers of a unit in an Association jointly and severally liable for all past due assessments, interest, late fees, legal fees, and costs payable
to the Association. As discussed above, the Florida Statutes grants to Associations a so-called “super lien”, which is a category of lien that is given a statutorily higher priority
than all other types of liens other than property tax liens. The amount of the Association’s priority over a first mortgage holder that takes title to a property through foreclosure
(or deed in lieu), referred to as the Super Lien Amount, is limited to twelve months’ past due assessments or, if less, one percent (1.0%) of the original mortgage amount. Under
our contracts with Associations for our original product, we pay Associations an amount up to the Super Lien Amount for the right to receive all collected interest and late fees
on Accounts purchased from the Associations.
In other states in which we have offered our original product, which are currently only in Washington, Colorado and Illinois, we rely on statutes that we believe are similar to the
above-described Florida statutes in relevant respects. A total of approximately 22 U.S. states, Puerto Rico and the District of Columbia have super lien statutes that give
Association assessments super lien status under some circumstances, and of these states, we believe that all of these jurisdictions other than Alaska have a regulatory and
business environment that would enable us to offer our original product to Associations in those states on materially the same basis.
New Neighbor Guaranty
In 2012, we began development of a new product, the New Neighbor Guaranty, wherein an Association assigns substantially all of its outstanding indebtedness and accruals on
its delinquent units to us in exchange for payments in an amount equal to the regular ongoing monthly or quarterly assessments for delinquent units when those amounts would
be due to the Association. We assume both the payment and collection obligations for these assigned Accounts under this product. This simultaneously eliminates an
Association’s balance sheet bad debts and assists the Association to meet its budget by receiving guaranteed assessment payments on its delinquent units and relieving the
Association from paying legal fees and costs to collect its bad debts. We believe that the combined features of the product enhance the value of the underlying real estate in an
Association and the value of an Association’s delinquent receivables.
Before we implement the New Neighbor Guaranty program, an Association typically asks us to conduct a review of its accounts receivable. After we have conducted the
review, we inform the Association which Accounts we are willing to purchase and the terms of such purchase. Once we implement the New Neighbor Guaranty program, we
begin making scheduled payments to the Association on the Accounts as if the Association had non-delinquent residents occupying the units underlying the Accounts. Our New
Neighbor Guaranty contracts typically allow us to retain all collection proceeds on each Account other than special assessments and accelerated assessment balances. Thus, the
Association foregoes the potential benefit of a larger future collection in exchange for the certainty of a steady stream of immediate payments on the Account.
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Specialty Finance Industry Overview
According to the Community Association Institute (“CAI”), as of January 2017, 65 million people lived in 344,500 Associations in the United States. As a percentage,
homeowners associations accounted for between 54-60% of the total and condominium associations accounted for between 38-42% of the total, with cooperatives comprising
the balance. As of December 2017, Florida had nearly 9.8 million residents living in more than 48,000 community associations. Assuming the national distribution of property
types exists in Florida, Florida has approximately 27,000 homeowners associations and 21,000 condominium associations. We believe opportunity remains abundant in our
other geographic markets.
Associations typically address delinquencies by paying lawyers or collection agencies to recover amounts owed. While Associations seek recovery of delinquent amounts,
budgets go underfunded causing the need to cut services or raise assessments further. The real estate downturn in 2008 made delinquency issues an acute problem for a large
number of Associations. We were organized in 2008 to immediately address the financial problems faced by Associations as a result of delinquent unit owners.
According to the CAI, as of December 2016, in Florida where we have primarily operated, Associations annually assess their residents $9 billion and nationwide, annual
assessments by Associations are $65 billion. We believe we offer Associations a better financial solution to Account delinquencies and that Associations will increasingly turn
to us and our products as a solution to handle Account delinquencies.
Specialty Finance Strategy
Our primary objective is to utilize our competitive strengths, including our proprietary technology and our management’s experience and expertise in buying and collecting
Association Accounts, to grow our business in Florida by identifying, evaluating, pricing, and acquiring Association Accounts and maximizing collections of such Accounts in a
cost efficient manner. The principal elements of our strategy and competitive advantage are as follows:
•

Capitalizing on our brand and existing strategic relationships to identify and acquire Association Accounts. We market our “We Buy Problems” and “You
Are Always Better off with LM Funding” brands primarily through trade shows throughout Florida and, to a lesser extent, at national events. Participation in
these shows and events has enabled us to form strategic relationships throughout the Association services industry and has served to provide us a positive
reputation in the industry. We leverage our brand and strategic relationships with law firms and Associations to identify and purchase Accounts.

•

Partnering with Associations’ advisors such as law firms, management companies, accountants, Association lenders, and others to efficiently identify and
acquire Accounts on a national basis. The point of purchase for Accounts is at the individual Association board of directors level; therefore, establishing and
maintaining relationships with the advisors of those boards is important to our business strategy. Our strategic relationships with Association boards’ advisors
provide us with opportunities to meet with Association boards on favorable terms and help us to gain their trust and confidence.

•

Providing our proprietary software to our partner law firms in order to cost effectively track, control, and collect purchased Accounts and maintain low fixed
overhead. Our proprietary software provides a competitive advantage that enables law firms’ lawyers to efficiently handle approximately 1,000 Accounts at a
time with a high degree of uniformity and accuracy based upon historical caseload per lawyer of Business Law Group, P.A., one of our partner law firms.
This enables our law firms to operate more efficiently and profitably, while simultaneously enabling us to cost effectively track and control our Accounts on a
real-time basis.

•

Utilizing increased access to capital and lines of credit to expand our product offerings nationally. As a specialty finance company, capital is our inventory.
Access to capital has always determined the speed of our growth and the amount of upfront funding we can provide with our products. We believe that
increased access to capital will enable us to pursue more opportunities to buy Accounts and to develop a wider array of specialty finance products.

•

Extending secured commercial loans as a means to acquiring large blocks of Accounts. We intend to pursue the extension of secured loans to commercial
partners who, as a condition of such loans, would be required to drive large blocks of Accounts to us. Banks, management companies, law firms, and large
Associations control large blocks of Accounts that we may be able to acquire if we help meet their capital needs.
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•

Pursuing acquisitions of providers in the Association Account servicing industry. A number of smaller collection companies continue to operate in the
community association market. Some have funded Accounts that we can acquire. Others have customer relationships which can serve as a valuable platform
for selling our products. We will continue to explore opportunities to expand our footprint in both the states in which we operate and by looking to make
strategic acquisitions of providers in states we wish to expand into.

Specialty Health Insurance
IIU through its wholly owned subsidiary Wallach and Company (“Wallach”) offers health insurance, travel insurance and other travel services to:
•
•

United States citizens and residents traveling abroad
Non United States citizens or residents who travel to the United States

These services are typically sold through a policy offered by Wallach and fully underwritten by a third party insurance company. The policies offered include:
•
•
•
•
•

HealthCare Abroad - Short term medical insurance, medical evacuation and international assistance for Americans traveling overseas. There is an age limit of 84
years old.
HealthCare Global – up to 6 months coverage for Americans traveling abroad and foreign nationals traveling outside their home countries to destinations other
than the United States. There is an age limit of 70 years old.
HealthCare America – up to 90 days coverage for foreign nationals visiting the United States. There is an age limit of 70 years old.
HealthCare International – International medical insurance & assistance for persons living outside their home country. There is an age limit of 70 years old.
HealthCare War – up to 6 months coverage for Americans traveling abroad and foreign nationals traveling outside their home countries to identified war risk
areas. There is an age limit of 70 years old.

Specialty Health Insurance Industry Overview
The international travel insurance industry is highly competitive with a number of companies providing such services ranging in size from billion dollar companies such as
AXA Insurance to smaller specialized firms such as IIU. The U.S. Travel Insurance Association estimated in 2016 that consumers spent approximately $2.8 billion on various
types of travel insurance products, an increase of 19.1% from 2014. The main types of travel insurance include: trip cancellation/interruption/delay; baggage loss/delay on
personal effects insurance; travel medical insurance; medical evacuation insurance; and cancel for any reason coverage.
Specialty Health Insurance Strategy
Our strategy is to expand our customer base by identifying business partners who focus on overseas citizens who travel to the United States that are currently underserved by
other competitors and identifying other United Stated based travel providers who can increase revenues by partnering with IIU for providing travel insurance.
On January 8, 2020, the Company entered into a Stock Purchase Agreement (the “Craven SPA”) with Craven pursuant to which the Company sold to Craven all of the issued
and outstanding capital stock of IIU for $3,562,769. The purchase price under the Craven SPA was paid by Craven through the cancellation of the Craven Convertible Note,
plus forgiveness of $100,787 of accrued interest as of January 8, 2020.
Employees
As of April 14, 2020, we had 9 employees all of which are full-time.
Corporate Information
Corporate History and Reorganization
The Company was originally organized in January 2008 as a Florida limited liability company under the name LM Funding, LLC. Historically, all of our business was
conducted through LM Funding, LLC and its subsidiaries (the “Predecessor”). Immediately prior to our initial public offering in October 2015, the members of the LM
Funding, LLC contributed all of their membership interests to LM Funding America, Inc., a Delaware corporation incorporated on April 20, 2015 (“LMFA”), in exchange for
an aggregate of 2,100,000 shares of the common stock of LMFA (the “Corporate Reorganization”). Immediately after such contribution and exchange, the former members of
LM Funding, LLC became the holders of 100% of
5

the issued and outstanding common stock of LMFA, thereby making LM Funding, LLC a wholly-owned subsidiary of LMFA. As used in this discussion and analysis, unless
the context requires otherwise, references to “LMF,” “LM Funding,” “we,” “us,” “our,” “the Company,” “our company,” and similar references refer to (i) following the date of
the Corporate Reorganization, LM Funding America, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and its consolidated subsidiaries, and (ii) prior to the date of the Corporate Reorganization,
LM Funding, LLC, a Florida limited liability company, and its consolidated subsidiaries. All of our business is conducted through LM Funding, LLC and its subsidiaries.
IIU, Inc., our former wholly-owned subsidiary, was organized in April 2018 as a Virginia corporation. IIU, Inc. owns Wallach and Company, a Virginia corporation, which was
organized in January 1989. As described above, we sold IIU, Inc. and its subsidiary, Wallach and Company, on January 8, 2020 pursuant to the terms of the Craven SPA.
Where you can Find More Information
We are required to file annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and other information, including our proxy statement, with
the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). The public can obtain copies of these materials by accessing the SEC’s website at http://www.sec.gov. In addition, as soon
as reasonably practicable after these materials are filed with or furnished to the SEC, we will make copies available to the public free of charge through our website,
https://www.lmfunding.com. The information on our website is not incorporated into, and is not part of, this Annual Report on Form 10-K or our other filings with the SEC.
Item 1A. Risk Factors.
You should carefully consider each of the risks described below, together with all of the other information contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, before making an
investment decision with respect to our securities. If any of the following risks actually occur, our business, financial condition, results of operations, or cash flow could be
materially and adversely affected and you may lose all or part of your investment.
Risks Relating to Our Business
Our quarterly operating results may fluctuate and cause our stock price to decline.
Because of the nature of our business, our quarterly operating results may fluctuate, which may adversely affect the market price of our common stock. Our results may
fluctuate as a result of the following factors:
(i)
(ii)
(iii)
(iv)
(v)
(vi)
(vii)

the timing and amount of collections on our Account portfolio;
our inability to identify and acquire additional Accounts;
a decline in the value of our Account portfolio recoveries;
a decline in the number of travel insurance policies sold;
an increase in the underwriting costs associated with underwriting travel insurance policies;
increases in operating expenses associated with the growth of our operations; and
general, economic and real estate market conditions.

Any future acquisitions that we make may prove unsuccessful or strain or divert our resources.
We may seek to grow through acquisitions of related businesses. Such acquisitions present risks that could materially adversely affect our business and financial performance,
including:
(i)
(ii)
(iii)
(iv)

the diversion of our management’s attention from our everyday business activities;
the assimilation of the operations and personnel of the acquired business;
the contingent and latent risks associated with the past operations of, and other unanticipated problems arising in, the acquired business; and
the need to expand our management, administration and operational systems to accommodate such acquired business.

If we make such acquisitions we cannot predict whether:
(i)
we will be able to successfully integrate the operations of any new businesses into our business;
(ii) we will realize any anticipated benefits of completed acquisitions; or
(iii) there will be substantial unanticipated costs associated with such acquisitions.
In addition, future acquisitions by us may result in potentially dilutive issuances of our equity securities, the incurrence of additional debt, and the recognition of significant
charges for depreciation and amortization related to goodwill and other intangible assets.
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Although we have no definitive plans or intentions to make acquisitions of related businesses, we continuously evaluate such potential acquisitions. However, we have not
reached any agreement or arrangement with respect to any particular acquisition and we may not be able to complete any acquisitions on favorable terms or at all.
The recent coronavirus outbreak could have an adverse effect on our business.
Concerns are rapidly growing about the global outbreak of a novel strain of coronavirus (COVID-19). The virus has spread rapidly across the globe, including the U.S. The
pandemic is having an unprecedented impact on the U.S. economy as federal, state and local governments react to this public health crisis, which has created significant
uncertainties. These uncertainties include, but are not limited to, the potential adverse effect of the pandemic on the economy, our customers and the legal system which we use
to collect for our customers.
We believe that the wide-spread unemployment crisis will impact the ability of community associations to pay vendors and provide basic services and amenities to their
residents. Our funding products fill the void created when homeowners do not pay their dues. We are then able to work with delinquent homeowners to establish payment plans
to save their homes from foreclosure. Homeowners’ inability to pay their associations creates an opportunity to sell our products. However, homeowners’ continued inability
to pay their associations’ assessments due to unemployment resulting from a pandemic could adversely affect our revenues and profitability until unemployment subsides.
As the pandemic continues to grow, consumer fear about becoming ill with the virus and recommendations and/or mandates from federal, state and local authorities to avoid
large gatherings of people or self-quarantine may continue. The extent of the impact of the pandemic on our business and financial results will depend largely on future
developments, including the duration of the spread of the outbreak within the U.S., the impact on capital and financial markets and the related impact on consumer confidence
and spending, all of which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted. This situation is changing rapidly, and additional impacts may arise that we are not aware of currently.
Our investments in other businesses and entry into new business ventures may adversely affect our operations.
We have made and may continue to make investments in companies or commence operations in businesses and industries that are not identical to those with which we have
historically been successful. If these investments or arrangements are not successful, our earnings could be materially adversely affected by increased expenses and decreased
revenues.
Our organizational documents and Delaware law may make it harder for us to be acquired without the consent and cooperation of our Board of Directors and
management.
Certain provisions of our organizational documents and Delaware law may deter or prevent a takeover attempt, including a takeover attempt in which the potential purchaser
offers to pay a per share price greater than the current market price of our common stock. Under the terms of our certificate of incorporation, our Board of Directors has the
authority, without further action by our stockholders, to issue shares of preferred stock in one or more series and to fix the rights, preferences, privileges and restrictions thereof.
In addition, our directors serve staggered terms of one to three years each and, as such, at any given annual meeting of our stockholders, only a portion of our Board of
Directors may be considered for election, which may prevent our stockholders from replacing a majority of our Board of Directors at certain annual meetings and may entrench
our management and discourage unsolicited stockholder proposals. The ability to issue shares of preferred stock could tend to discourage takeover or acquisition proposals not
supported by our current Board of Directors.
Future sales of our common stock may depress our stock price.
Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market could cause a decrease in the market price of our common stock. We had 3,320,261 shares of
common stock issued and outstanding as of April 15, 2020. We may issue additional shares in connection with our business and may grant stock options to our employees,
officers, directors and consultants under our stock option plans or warrants to third parties. If a significant portion of these shares were sold in the public market, the market
value of our common stock could be adversely affected.
Craven House Capital North America, LLC owns 25% of our company and may exert significant influence over our company, reducing the influence of our other
stockholders.
As of April 14, 2020, Craven House Capital North America, LLC (“Craven”) beneficially owned, in the aggregate, 25% of our outstanding shares of common stock. As a
result, Craven may be able to influence the actions that require stockholder approval, including the election of a majority of our directors and the approval of mergers, sales of
assets or other corporate transactions or matters submitted for stockholder approval. In addition, Craven’s influence could deter or preclude any unsolicited acquisition of us and
consequently materially adversely affect the price of our common stock.
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Risks Related to the Specialty Finance Business
We may not be able to purchase Accounts at favorable prices, or on sufficiently favorable terms, or at all.
Our success depends upon the continued availability of Association Accounts. The availability of Accounts at favorable prices and on terms acceptable to us depends on a
number of factors outside our control, including:
(i)

the status of the economy and real estate market in markets which we have operations may become so strong that delinquent Accounts do not occur in
sufficient quantities to efficiently acquire them;
(ii) the perceived need of Associations to sell their Accounts to us as opposed to taking other measures to solve budget problems such as increasing
assessments; and
(iii) competitive pressures from law firms, collections agencies, and others to produce more revenue for Associations than we can provide through the
purchase of Accounts.
In addition, our ability to purchase Accounts, in particular with respect to our original product, is reliant on state statutes allowing for a Super Lien Amount to protect our
principal investment; any change of those statutes and elimination of the priority of the Super Lien Amount, particularly in Florida, could have an adverse effect on our ability to
purchase Accounts. If we were unable to purchase Accounts at favorable prices or on terms acceptable to us, or at all, it would likely have a material adverse effect on our
financial condition and results of operations.
We may not be able to recover sufficient amounts on our Accounts to recover charges to the Accounts for interest and late fees necessary to fund our operations.
We acquire and collect on the delinquent receivables of Associations. Since Account debtors are third parties that we have little to no information about, we cannot predict when
any given Account will pay off or how much it will yield. In order to operate profitably over the long term, we must continually purchase and collect on a sufficient volume of
Accounts to generate revenue that exceeds our costs.
We are subject to intense competition seeking to provide a collection solution to Associations for delinquent Accounts.
Lawyers, collection agencies, and other direct and indirect competitors vying to collect on Accounts all propose to solve the problem delinquent Accounts pose to Associations.
Additionally, Associations and their management companies sometimes try to solve their delinquent Account problems in house, without the assistance of third-party collection
agencies. An Account that an Association attempts to collect through any of these other options is an Account we cannot purchase and collect. We compete on the basis of
reputation, industry experience, performance and financing dollars. Some of these competitors have greater contacts with Associations, greater financial resources and access to
capital, more personnel, wider geographic presence and greater resources than we have. In addition, we expect the entry of new competitors in the future given the relatively
new nature of the market in which we operate. Aggressive pricing by our competitors could raise the price of acquiring and purchasing Accounts above levels that we are
willing to pay, which could reduce the number of Accounts suitable for us to purchase or if purchased by us, reduce the profits, if any, generated by such Accounts. If we are
unable to purchase Accounts at favorable prices or at all, the revenues generated by us and our earnings could be materially reduced.
We are dependent upon third-party law firms to service our Accounts.
Although we utilize our proprietary software and in-house staff to track, monitor, and direct the collection of our Accounts, we depend upon third-party law firms to perform the
collection work. As a result, we are dependent upon the efforts of our third-party law firms, particularly Business Law Group, P.A. (“BLG”) to service and collect our Accounts.
As of December 31, 2019, BLG was responsible for servicing over 98% of our Accounts. Our revenues and profitability could be materially affected if:
(i)

our agreements with the third-party law firms we use are terminated and we are not able to secure replacement law firms or direct payments from
Account debtors to our replacement law firms;
(ii) our relationships with our law firms adversely change;
(iii) our law firms fail to adequately perform their obligations; or
(iv) internal changes at such law firms occur, such as loss of staff who service us.
If we are unable to access external sources of financing, we may not be able to fund and grow our operations.
We depend upon loans from external sources from time to time to fund and expand our operations. Our ability to grow our business is dependent on our access to additional
financing and capital resources. The failure to obtain financing and capital as needed would limit our ability to purchase Accounts and achieve our growth plans.
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We may incur substantial indebtedness from time to time in connection with the purchase of Accounts and could be subject to risks associated with incurring such
indebtedness.
We may incur substantial indebtedness from time to time in connection with the purchase of Accounts and could be subject to risks associated with incurring such indebtedness,
including:
(i)

we could be required to dedicate a portion of our cash flows from operations to pay debt service costs and, as a result, we would have less funds available
for operations, future acquisitions of Accounts, and other purposes;
(ii) it may be more difficult and expensive to obtain additional funds through financings, if such funds are available at all;
(iii) we could be more vulnerable to economic downturns and fluctuations in interest rates, less able to withstand competitive pressures and less flexible in
reacting to changes in our industry and general economic conditions; and
(iv) if we default under any of our existing credit facilities or if our creditors demand payment of a portion or all of our indebtedness, we may not have
sufficient funds to make such payments.
We may encounter difficulties managing changes in our business including cyclical growth and declines, which could disrupt our operations, and there is no assurance
that any such growth (if experienced) can be sustained.
From time to time since our inception, we have experienced periods of significant growth and declines. Although there is no assurance that we will again experience periods of
significant growth or continued declines in the future, if we do, there can be no assurance that we will be able to manage our changing operations effectively or that we will be
able to maintain or accelerate our growth, and any failure to do so could adversely affect our ability to generate revenues and control expenses. Future growth will depend upon
a number of factors, including:
(i)

the effective and timely initiation and development of relationships with law firms, management companies, accounting firms and other trusted advisors
of Associations willing to sell Accounts;
(ii) our ability to continue to develop our proprietary software for use in other markets and with different products;
(iii) our ability to maintain the collection of Accounts efficiently;
(iv) the recruitment, motivation and retention of qualified personnel both in our principal office and in new markets;
(v) our ability to successfully implement our business strategy in states outside of the state of Florida; and
(vi) our successful implementation of enhancements to our operational and financial systems.
Due to our limited financial resources and the limited experience and size of our management team, we may not be able to effectively manage the growth of our business.
Significant growth may lead to significant costs and may divert our management and business development resources. Any inability to manage growth could delay the
execution of our business strategy or disrupt our operations.
Government regulations may limit our ability to recover and enforce the collection of our Accounts.
Federal, state and municipal laws, rules, rules, regulations and ordinances may limit our ability to recover and enforce our rights with respect to the Accounts acquired by us.
These laws include, but are not limited to, the following federal statutes and regulations promulgated thereunder and comparable statutes in states where Account debtors reside
and/or located:
(i)
(ii)
(iii)
(iv)
(v)
(vi)
(vii)

the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act;
the Federal Trade Commission Act;
the Truth-In-Lending Act;
the Fair Credit Billing Act;
the Dodd-Frank Act;
the Equal Credit Opportunity Act; and
the Fair Credit Reporting Act.

We may be precluded from collecting Accounts we purchase where the Association or its prior legal counsel, management company, or collection agency failed to comply with
applicable laws in charging the account debtor or prosecuting the collection of the Account. Laws relating to the collection of consumer debt also directly apply to our business.
Our failure to comply with any laws applicable to us, including state licensing laws, could limit our ability to recover our Accounts and could subject us to fines and penalties,
which could reduce our revenues.
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We may become regulated under the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or CFPB, and have not developed compliance standards for such oversight.
The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (2010), or Dodd-Frank Act, represents a comprehensive overhaul of the financial services industry within
the U.S. The Dodd-Frank Act allows consumers free access to their credit score if their score negatively affects them in a financial transaction or a hiring decision, and also
gives consumers access to credit score disclosures as part of an adverse action and risk-based pricing notice. Title X of the Dodd-Frank Act establishes the Consumer Financial
Protection Bureau, or CFPB, within the Federal Reserve Board, and requires the CFPB and other federal agencies to implement many new and significant rules and regulations.
Significant portions of the Dodd-Frank Act related to the CFPB became effective on July 21, 2011. The CFPB has broad powers to promulgate, administer and enforce
consumer financial regulations, including those applicable to us and possibly our funded Associations. Under the Dodd-Frank Act, the CFPB is the principal supervisor and
enforcer of federal consumer financial protection laws with respect to nondepository institutions, or “nonbanks”, including, without limitation, any “covered person” who is a
“larger participant” in a market for other consumer financial products or services. We do not know if our unique business model makes us a covered person.
The CFPB has started to exercise authority to define unfair, deceptive or abusive acts and practices and to require reports and conduct examinations of these entities for purposes
of (i) assessing compliance with federal consumer financial protections laws; (ii) obtaining information about the activities and compliance systems or procedures of such
entities; and (iii) detecting and assessing risks to consumers and to markets for consumer financial products and services. The exercise of this supervisory authority must be
risk-based, meaning that the CFPB will identify nonbanks for examination based on the risk they pose to consumers, including consideration of the entity’s asset size,
transaction volume, risk to consumers, existing oversight by state authorities and any other factors that the CFPB determines to be relevant. When a nonbank is in violation of
federal consumer financial protection laws, including the CFPB’s own rules, the CFPB may pursue administrative proceedings or litigation to enforce those laws and rules. In
these proceedings, the CFPB can obtain cease and desist orders, which can include orders for restitution or rescission of contracts, as well as other kinds of affirmative relief,
and monetary penalties ranging from $5,000 per day for ordinary violations of federal consumer financial protection laws to $25,000 per day for reckless violations and $1
million per day for knowing violations. Also, where a company has violated Title X of the Dodd-Frank Act or CFPB regulations under Title X, the Dodd-Frank Act empowers
state attorneys general and state regulators to bring civil actions for the kind of cease and desist orders available to the CFPB (but not for civil penalties). If the CFPB or one or
more state officials believe that we have committed a violation of the foregoing laws, they could exercise their enforcement powers in a manner that could have a material
adverse effect on us.
At this time, we cannot predict the extent to which the Dodd-Frank Act or the resulting rules and regulations, including those of the CFPB, will impact the U.S. economy and
our products and services. Compliance with these new laws and regulations may require changes in the way we conduct our business and could result in additional compliance
costs, which could be significant and could adversely impact our results of operations, financial condition or liquidity.
Current and new laws may adversely affect our ability to collect our Accounts, which could adversely affect our revenues and earnings.
Because our Accounts are generally originated and collected pursuant to a variety of federal and state laws by a variety of third parties and may involve consumers in all 50
states, the District of Columbia and Puerto Rico, there can be no assurance that all Associations and their management companies, legal counsel, collections agencies and others
have at all times been in compliance with all applicable laws relating to the collection of Accounts. Additionally, there can be no assurance that we or our law firms have been
or will continue to be at all times in compliance with all applicable laws. Failure to comply with applicable laws could materially adversely affect our ability to collect our
Accounts and could subject us to increased costs, fines, and penalties. Furthermore, changes in state law regarding the lien priority status of delinquent Association assessments
could materially and adversely affect our business.
Class action suits and other litigation could divert our management’s attention from operating our business, increase our expenses, and otherwise harm our business.
Certain originators and servicers involved in consumer credit collection and related businesses have been subject to class actions and other litigation. Claims include failure to
comply with applicable laws and regulations such as usury and improper or deceptive origination and collection practices. From time to time we are a party to such litigation,
and as a result, our management’s attention may be diverted from our everyday business activities and implementing our business strategy, and our results of operations and
financial condition could be materially adversely affected by, among other things, legal expenses and challenges to our business model in connection with such litigation.
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If our technology and software systems are not operationalor are subject to cybersecurity incidents, our operations could be disrupted and our ability to successfully
acquire and collect Accounts could be adversely affected.
Our success depends in part on our proprietary software. We must record and process significant amounts of data quickly and accurately to properly track, monitor and collect
our Accounts. Any failure of our information systems and their backup systems, including by means of cybersecurity attacks, breaches or other incidents, would interrupt our
operations. We may not have adequate backup arrangements for all of our operations and we may incur significant losses if an outage occurs. In addition, we rely on third-party
law firms who also may be adversely affected in the event of a cybersecurity breach or attack or other outage in which the third-party servicer does not have adequate backup
arrangements. Any interruption in our operations or our third-party law firms’ operations could have an adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition.
Risks Relating to the Accounts
Insolvency of BLG could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
Our primary Account servicer, BLG, deposits collections on the Accounts in its Interest on Lawyers Trust Account (“IOLTA Trust Account”) and then distributes the proceeds
to itself, us and the Associations pursuant to the terms of the purchase agreements with the Associations and applicable law. We do not have a perfected security interest in the
amounts BLG collects on the Accounts while such amounts are held in the IOLTA Trust Account. BLG has agreed to promptly remit to us all amounts collected on the
Accounts that are owed to us. If, however, BLG were to become subject to any insolvency law and a creditor or trustee-in-bankruptcy of BLG were to take the position that
proceeds of the Accounts held in BLG’s IOLTA Trust Account should be treated as assets of BLG, an Association or another third party, delays in payments from collections
on the Accounts held by BLG could occur or reductions in the amounts of payments to be remitted by BLG to us could result, which could adversely affect our financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows.
Associations do not make any guarantee with respect to the validity, enforceability or collectability of the Accounts acquired by us.
Associations do not make any representations, warranties or covenants with respect to the validity, enforceability or collectability of Accounts in their assignments of Accounts
to us. If an Account proves to be invalid, unenforceable or otherwise generally uncollectible, we will not have any recourse against the respective Association. If a significant
number of our Accounts are later held to be invalid, unenforceable or are otherwise uncollectible, our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows could be
adversely affected.
All of our Accounts are located in Florida, and any adverse conditions affecting Florida could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of
operations.
Our primary business relates to revenues from Accounts purchased by us, which are all based in Florida, and our primary source of revenue consists of payments made by
condominium and home owners to satisfy the liens against their condominiums and homes. As of December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, Florida represented 100% of our
Accounts. An economic recession, adverse market conditions in Florida, and/or significant property damage caused by hurricanes, tornadoes or other inclement weather could
adversely affect the ability of these condominium and home owners to satisfy the liens against their condominiums and homes, which could, in turn, have a material adverse
effect on our financial condition and results of operations.
Foreclosure on an Association’s lien may not result in our company recouping the amount that we invested in the related Account.
All of the Accounts purchased by us are in default. The Accounts are secured by liens held by Associations, which we have an option to foreclose upon on behalf of the
Associations. Should we foreclose upon such a lien on behalf of an Association, we are generally entitled pursuant to our contractual arrangements with the Association to have
the Association quitclaim its interests in the condominium unit or home to us. In the event that any Association quitclaims its interests in a condominium unit or home to us, we
will be relying on the short-term rental prospects, to the extent permitted under bylaws and rules applicable to the Association, and value of its interest in the underlying
property, which value may be affected by numerous risks, including:
(i)
(ii)
(iii)
(iv)

changes in general or local economic conditions;
neighborhood values;
interest rates;
real estate tax rates and other operating expenses;
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(v)
(vi)
(vii)
(viii)

the possibility of overbuilding of similar properties and of the inability to obtain or maintain full occupancy of the properties;
governmental rules and fiscal policies;
acts of God; and
other factors which are beyond our control.

It is possible that as a result of a decrease in the value of the property or any of the other factors referred to in this paragraph, the amount realized from the sale of such property
after taking title through a lien foreclosure may be less than our total investment in the Account. If this occurs with regard to a substantial number of Accounts, the amount
expected to be realized from the Accounts will decrease and our financial condition and results of operations could be harmed.
If Account debtors or their agents make payments on the Accounts to or negotiate reductions in the Accounts with an Association, it could adversely affect our financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows.
From time to time Account debtors and/or their agents may make payments on the Accounts directly to the Association or its management company. Our sole recourse in this
instance is to recover these misapplied payments through set-offs of payments later collected for that Association by our third-party law firms. A significant number of
misapplied or reduced payments could hinder our cash flows and adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.
Account debtors are subject to a variety of factors that may adversely affect their payment ability.
Collections on the Accounts have varied and may in the future vary greatly in both timing and amount from the payments actually due on the Accounts due to a variety of
economic, social and other factors. Failures by Account debtors to timely pay off their Accounts could adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows.
Defaults on the Accounts could harm our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
We take assignments of the lien foreclosure rights of Associations against delinquent units owned by Account debtors who are responsible for payment of the Accounts. The
payoff of the Accounts is dependent upon the ability and willingness of the condominium and home owners to pay such obligations. If an owner fails to pay off the Account
relating to his, her or its unit or home, only net amounts recovered, if any, will be available with respect to that Account. Foreclosures by holders of first mortgages generally
result in our receipt of reduced recoveries from Accounts. In addition, foreclosure actions by any holder of a tax lien may result in us receiving no recovery from an Account to
the extent excess proceeds from such tax lien foreclosure are insufficient to provide for payment to us. If, at any time, (i) we experience an increase in mortgage foreclosures or
tax lien foreclosures or (ii) we experience a decrease in owner payments, our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows could be adversely affected.
We depend on the skill and diligence of third parties to collect the Accounts.
Because the collection of Accounts requires special skill and diligence, any failure of BLG, or any other law firm utilized by us, to diligently collect the Accounts could
adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
The payoff amounts received by us from Accounts may be adversely affected due to a variety of factors beyond our control.
Several factors may reduce the amount that can be collected on any individual Account. The delinquent assessments that are the subject of the Accounts and related charges are
included within an Association’s claim of lien under the applicable statute. In Florida, Association liens are recorded in the official county records and hold first priority status
with respect to a first mortgage holder for an amount equal to the Super Lien Amount. Associations have assigned to us the right to direct law firms to collect on the liens and
foreclose, subject to the terms and conditions of the purchase agreements between each Association and us.
Each Account presents a separate risk as to the creditworthiness of the debtor obligated to pay the Account, which, in general, is the owner of the unit or home when the
Account was incurred and subsequent owners. For instance, if the debtor has incurred a property tax lien, a sale related to such lien could result in our complete loss of the
Account. Also, a holder of a first mortgage taking title through a foreclosure proceeding in which the Association is named as a defendant must only pay the Super Lien Amount
in a state with a super lien statute. Although we purchase Accounts at a discount to the outstanding balance and the owner remains personally liable for any deficiency, we may
decide that it is not cost-effective to pursue such a deficiency. As a result, the purchase or ownership of a significant number of Accounts which result in payment of only the
Super Lien Amount or less where no statute specifying a Super Lien Amount applies, could adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.
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The liens securing the Accounts we own may not be superior to all liens on the related units and homes.
Although the liens of the Associations securing the Accounts may be superior in right of payment to some of the other liens on a condominium unit or home, they may not be
superior to all liens on that condominium unit or home. For instance, a lien relating to delinquent property taxes would be superior in right of payment to the liens securing the
Accounts. In addition, if an Association fails to assert the priority of its lien in a foreclosure action, the Association may inadvertently waive the priority of its lien. In the event
that there is a lien of superior priority on a unit or home relating to one of the Accounts, the Association’s lien might be extinguished in the event that such superior liens are
foreclosed. In most instances, the unit or home owner will be liable for the payment of such Account and the ultimate payment would depend on the creditworthiness of such
owner. In the case of a tax lien foreclosure, an owner taking title through foreclosure would not be liable for the payment of obligations that existed prior to the foreclosure sale.
The purchase or ownership of a significant number of Accounts that are the subject of foreclosure by a superior lien could adversely affect our financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows.
We may not choose to pursue a foreclosure action against condominium and home owners who are delinquent in paying off the Accounts relating to their units or homes.
Although we have the right to pursue a foreclosure action against a unit or home owner who is delinquent in paying off the Account relating to his or her unit or home, we may
not choose to do so as the cost of such litigation may be prohibitive, especially when pursuing an individual claim against a single unit or home owner. Our choice not to
foreclose on a unit or home may delay our ability to collect on the Account. If we decide not to pursue foreclosure against a significant number of Accounts, it could adversely
affect our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
The holding period for our Accounts from purchase to payoff is indeterminate.
It can take our third-party law firms anywhere from three months to ten years or longer to collect on an Account. Approximately 61% of our Accounts were purchased prior to
2016, with some being purchased as early as 2008. Due to various factors, including those discussed above, we cannot project the payoff date for any Account. This
indeterminate holding period reduces our liquidity and ability to fund our operations. If our ability to collect on a material number of Accounts was significantly delayed, it
could adversely affect our cash flows and ability to fund our operations.
Our business model and related accounting treatment may result in acceleration of expense recognition before the corresponding revenues can be recognized.
As we expand our business, we may incur significant upfront costs relating to the acquisition of Accounts. Under United States generally accepted accounting principles
(“GAAP”) such amounts may be required to be recognized in the period that they are expended. However, the corresponding revenue stream relating to the acquisition of such
Accounts will not be recognized until future dates. Therefore, we may experience reduced earnings in earlier periods until such time as the revenue stream relating to the
acquisition of such Accounts may be recognized.
Risks Relating to our Securities
We may be unable to complete the Hanfor Exchange Transaction.
We may be unable to complete the Hanfor Exchange Transaction, as the parties’ respective obligations to complete the transaction are subject to various material
closing conditions, including the approval of the Hanfor Exchange Transaction by the Company’s stockholders at a duly called stockholder meeting; the Company’s receipt of
audited financial statements for Hanfor for 2018 and 2019; the receipt of a fairness opinion by the Company’s board of directors for the Hanfor Exchange Transaction; the
absence of a material adverse change in the business, assets, or operations of Hanfor; the exercise of outstanding warrants to purchase at least 729,167 shares of Company
common stock (or Hanfor Owner’s purchase of shares in a private placement in lieu thereof); and various customary closing conditions. The conditions to Hanfor Owner’s and
Hanfor’s obligation to complete the Hanfor Exchange Transaction will include the continued listing of the Company’s common stock on the Nasdaq Stock Market; the absence
of a material adverse change in the business, assets, or operations of the Company; and other customary closing conditions. Any number of factors or circumstances could
prevent one or more of the foregoing conditions from being satisfied. Failure to complete the Hanfor Share Exchange, or significant delays in completing the Hanfor Share
Exchange, could negatively affect the future business, financial results, and prospects of the Company.
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Our common shares and warrants could be delisted from the Nasdaq Capital Market.
On March 27, 2020, the Company received a notification letter from Nasdaq stating that the Company has not regained compliance with Nasdaq Continued Listing Rule
5550(a)(2), which requires the Company’s listed securities to maintain a minimum bid price of $1.00 per share. Additionally, on January 3, 2020, the Company received a
deficiency letter from Nasdaq, indicating that it was in violation of Listing Rules 5620(a) and 5810(c)(2)(G) by virtue of passing the applicable deadline for holding of its annual
general meeting of shareholders for the financial year ended December 31, 2018. The March 2020 notification stated that the Company’s securities would be delisted from the
Nasdaq Capital Market on April 7, 2020 unless the Company timely requested a hearing before a Nasdaq Hearing Panel. The Company has timely requested a hearing, which
has been scheduled for April 30, 2020, and the delisting of the Company’s securities has been stayed pending the Nasdaq Hearing Panel’s decision. There is no assurance that
Nasdaq Hearing Panel will accept the Company’s plan to regain compliance with the Nasdaq listing rules and give the Company additional time to regain compliance.
Because the continued listing of our common stock on the Nasdaq Capital Market is a condition of Hanfor’s obligation to complete the Hanfor Exchange Transaction, our
failure to retain our listing may result in the termination of the Hanfor Exchange Transaction unless Hanfor and the Hanfor Owner waive such condition. In addition, if a
suspension or delisting were to occur, there would be significantly less liquidity in the suspended or delisted securities. In addition, our ability to raise additional necessary
capital through equity or debt financing would be greatly impaired. Furthermore, with respect to any suspended or delisted common shares, we would expect decreases in
investor demand, market making activity and information available concerning trading prices and volume. Additionally, fewer broker-dealers would be willing to execute trades
with respect to such common shares. A suspension or delisting would likely decrease the attractiveness of our common shares to investors and cause the trading volume of our
common shares to decline, which could result in a further decline in the market price of our common shares.
Future sales of our common stock by our affiliates or other stockholders may depress our stock price.
Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market could cause a decrease in the market price of our common stock. We had authorized
30,000,000 shares of common stock and preferred stock, respectively as of December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018.
We had 3,134,261 and 3,124,961 shares of common stock issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively. In addition, pursuant to our
2015 Omnibus Incentive Plan, options to purchase 19,300 and 19,300 respectively, shares of our common stock were outstanding as of December 31, 2019 and December 31,
2018, of which 11,800 and 6,630, respectively were exercisable.
There were 3,959,287 and 3,843,587 warrants issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively that allowed for the issuance of 2,879,287
and 2,763,587 shares, respectively. The 1,200,000 warrants that were issued on October 23, 2015 can be exercised for one-tenth share at $12.50. On April 2, 2018 we issued
warrants (subsequently adjusted for a reverse stock split and issuance of new common shares) to purchase 143,587 shares of our common stock in conjunction with a $500,000
senior secured indebtedness transaction. On October 31, 2018, the Company issued warrants as part of its secondary offering that allowed for the right to purchase 2,500,000
shares of common stock at an exercise price of $2.40 per share. These warrants have average remaining life of 3.8 years as of December 31, 2019. These warrants expire in the
year 2023. On May 1, 2019, as a result of an underwriter agreement, we issued warrants to purchase 125,000 shares at an exercise price of $2.64 per share.
We may issue additional shares in connection with our business and may grant additional stock options or restricted shares to our employees, officers, directors and consultants
under our present or future equity compensation plans or we may issue warrants to third parties outside of such plans. If a significant portion of these shares were sold in the
public market, the market value of our common stock could be adversely affected.
The market price and trading volume of our units, shares of common stock and warrants may be volatile, and you may not be able to resell your shares of common stock or
warrants (as the case may be) at or above the price you paid for them.
Our securities may trade at prices significantly below the price you paid for it, in which case, holders of our securities may experience difficulty in reselling, or an inability to
sell, our securities. In addition, when the market price of a company’s equity drops significantly, equity holders often institute securities class action lawsuits against the
company. A lawsuit against us could cause us to incur substantial costs and could divert the time and attention of our management and other resources away from the day-today operations of our business.
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Securities analysts may not initiate coverage of our securities or may issue negative reports, which may adversely affect the trading price of our securities.
We cannot assure you that securities analysts will cover our company. As of December 31, 2019, no securities analyst covers our company. If securities analysts do not cover
our company, this lack of coverage may adversely affect the trading price of our securities. In the event that securities analysts begin to cover our company, the trading market
for our securities will rely in part on the research and reports that such securities analysts publish about us and our business. If one or more of the analysts who cover our
company downgrades our securities, the trading price of our securities may decline. If one or more of these analysts then ceases to cover our company, we could lose visibility
in the market, which, in turn, could also cause the trading price of our securities to decline. Further, because of our small market capitalization, it may be difficult for us to attract
securities analysts to cover our company, which could significantly and adversely affect the trading price of our securities.
If we do not maintain an effective registration statement, you may not be able to exercise the warrants in a cash exercise.
For you to be able to exercise our publicly traded warrants, the resale of the shares of common stock to be issued to you upon exercise of the warrants must be covered by an
effective and current registration statement. We have not maintained a current registration statement relating to the resale of the shares of common stock underlying the
warrants. As a result, you would be unable to exercise the warrants in a cash exercise and will be required to engage in a cashless exercise in which a number of warrant shares
equal to the fair market value of the exercised shares will be withheld. In those circumstances, we may, but are not required to, redeem the warrants by payment in cash.
Consequently, there is a possibility that you will never be able to exercise the warrants and receive the underlying shares of common stock. This potential inability to exercise
the warrants in a cash exercise, our right to cancel the warrants under certain circumstances, and the possibility that we may redeem the warrants for nominal value, may have
an adverse effect on demand for the warrants and the prices that can be obtained from reselling them.
We are an “emerging growth company” and the reduced disclosure requirements applicable to emerging growth companies may make our securities less attractive to
investors.
We are an “emerging growth company,” or “EGC”, as defined under rules of the SEC adopted in connection with the Jumpstart our Business Startups Act, also known as the
“JOBS Act”. We will remain an EGC until the earlier of: (i) the last day of the fiscal year in which we have total annual gross revenues of $1 billion or more; (ii) the last day of
the fiscal year following the fifth anniversary of the date of our initial public stock offering; (iii) the date on which we have issued more than $1 billion in nonconvertible debt
during the previous three years; or (iv) the date on which we are deemed to be a large accelerated filer under the rules of the SEC, which means the first day of the year
following the first year in which the market value of our common stock that is held by non-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of June 30. For so long as we remain an EGC, we
are permitted to rely on exemptions from certain disclosure requirements that are applicable to other public companies that are not emerging growth companies. These
exemptions include:
•
•
•
•
•
•

being permitted to provide only two years of audited financial statements, in addition to any required unaudited interim financial statements;
not being required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements in the assessment of our internal control over financial reporting;
not being required to comply with any requirement that may be adopted by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board regarding mandatory audit firm
rotation or a supplement to the auditor’s report providing additional information about the audit and the financial statements;
reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation;
exemptions from the requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory vote on executive compensation and stockholder approval of any golden parachute
payments not previously approved; and
the ability to delay the adoption of certain accounting standards until those standards would otherwise apply to private companies.

We may choose to take advantage of some or all of the available exemptions. We have taken advantage of reduced reporting burdens in this report. Accordingly, the information
contained herein may be different than the information you receive from other public companies in which you hold stock. We cannot predict whether investors will find our
warrants or common stock less attractive if we rely on certain or all of these exemptions. If some investors find our warrants or common stock less attractive as a result, there
may be a less active trading market for our warrants or common stock and the price of our warrants or common stock may be more volatile.
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Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.
None.
Item 2. Properties.
Our executive and administrative offices are located in Tampa, Florida, where we lease approximately 5,600 square feet of general office space for approximately $8,100 per
month, plus utilities. The lease began July 15, 2019 and expires on July 31, 2022.
Item 3. Legal Proceedings.
We are not currently a party to material litigation proceedings. However, we frequently become party to litigation in the ordinary course of business, including either the
prosecution or defense of claims arising from contracts by and between us and client Associations. Regardless of the outcome, litigation can have an adverse impact on us
because of prosecution, defense, and settlement costs, diversion of management resources and other factors.
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.
None

16

PART II
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.
Market Information
Following our initial public offering, our units, consisting of one share of our common stock and one warrant to purchase one share of our comment stock, were quoted on the
Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol “LMFAU” until they ceased trading on December 7, 2015.
Effective December 8, 2015, our common stock and common stock warrants became separately quoted on the Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbols “LMFA” and
“LMFAW,” respectively. On December 31, 2019 there was 2 holders of record of our common stock and 1 holder of record of our common stock warrants.
Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans
See “Equity Compensation Plan Information” in Part III, Item 12 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities
None.
Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer
None.
Item 6. Selected Financial Data
Not applicable
Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.
Forward-Looking Statements
This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains certain forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. All statements other
than statements of historical facts included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including without limitation, statements regarding our future financial position, business
strategy, budgets, projected revenues, projected costs and plans and objectives of management for future operations, are forward-looking statements. Forward-looking
statements generally can be identified by the use of forward-looking terminology such as “may,” “will,” “expects,” “intends,” “plans,” “projects,” “estimates,” “anticipates,”
“believes” or the negative thereof or any variation thereon or similar terminology or expressions.
We have based these forward-looking statements on our current expectations and projections about future events. These forward-looking statements are not guarantees and are
subject to known and unknown risks, uncertainties and assumptions about us that may cause our actual results, levels of activity, performance or achievements to be materially
different from any future results, levels of activity, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. Important factors which could
materially affect our results and our future performance include, without limitation, our ability to purchase defaulted consumer receivables at appropriate prices, competition to
acquire such receivables, our dependence upon third party law firms to service our accounts, our ability to obtain funds to purchase receivables, ability to manage growth or
declines in the business, changes in government regulations that affect our ability to collect sufficient amounts on our defaulted consumer receivables, the impact of class action
suits and other litigation, our ability to keep our software systems updated to operate our business, our ability to employ and retain qualified employees, our ability to establish
and maintain internal accounting controls, changes in the credit or capital markets, changes in interest rates, deterioration in economic conditions, and negative press regarding
the debt collection industry which may have a negative impact on a debtor’s willingness to pay the debt we acquire, as well as other factors set forth under “Risk Factors” in
this report.
•
•
•
•
•
•

uncertainty over the timing and ability to complete our business combination transaction with Hanfor,
our ability to retain the listing of our securities on the Nasdaq Capital market,
our ability to purchase defaulted consumer receivables at appropriate prices,
competition to acquire such receivables,
our dependence upon third party law firms to service our accounts,
our ability to obtain funds to purchase receivables,
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•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

our ability to manage growth or declines in the business,
changes in government regulations that affect our ability to collect sufficient amounts on our defaulted consumer receivables,
the impact of class action lawsuits and other litigation on our business or operations,
our ability to keep our software systems updated to operate our business,
our ability to employ and retain qualified employees,
our ability to establish and maintain internal accounting controls,
changes in the credit or capital markets,
changes in interest rates,
deterioration in economic conditions,
negative press regarding the debt collection industry which may have a negative impact on a debtor’s willingness to pay the debt we acquire,
the spread of the novel coronavirus (COVID-19), its impact on the economy generally and, more specifically, the specialty finance or specialty health insurance
industries, and
other factors set forth under “Risk Factors” in this report.

Except as required by law, we assume no duty to update or revise any forward-looking statements.
Overview
During 2019, we were a diversified business with two focuses:
•

•

Specialty finance company that provides funding to nonprofit community associations primarily located in the state of Florida. We offer incorporated nonprofit
community associations, which we refer to as “Associations,” a variety of financial products customized to each Association’s financial needs. Our original
product offering consists of providing funding to Associations by purchasing their rights under delinquent accounts that are selected by the Associations arising
from unpaid Association assessments. Historically, we provided funding against such delinquent accounts, which we refer to as “Accounts,” in exchange for a
portion of the proceeds collected by the Associations from the account debtors on the Accounts. We have started purchasing Accounts on varying terms tailored to
suit each Association’s financial needs, including under our New Neighbor Guaranty™ program.
specialty health insurance brokerage through our former subsidiary and specialty health insurance broker, IIU, Inc., a Virginia corporation (“IIU”), that we
purchased on January 16, 2019. IIU provides global medical insurance products for international travelers, specializing in policies covering high-risk destinations,
emerging markets and foreign travelers coming to the United States. All policies were fully underwritten with no claim risk remaining with IIU. The Company
sold IIU and its subsidiary on January 8, 2020.

Through our specialty finance business, we provide funding to Associations primarily located in the state of Florida and, to a lesser extent, Associations in the states of
Washington, Colorado, and, since February 2016, Illinois. We offer Associations a variety of financial products customized to each Association’s financial needs. Our original
product offering consists of providing funding to Associations by purchasing their rights under delinquent Accounts that are selected by the Associations arising from unpaid
Association assessments. We provide funding against such delinquent Accounts in exchange for a portion of the proceeds collected by the Associations from the Account
debtors on the Accounts. More recently, we have started to engage in the business of purchasing Accounts on varying terms tailored to suit each Association’s financial needs,
including under our New Neighbor Guaranty program.
Because of our role as a trusted advisor to our Association clients, we are exploring a potential product line which resembles a more traditional consulting model for
Associations desirous of this relationship. Areas of our consultancy may include purchase money mortgage qualification consulting, accounts receivable management, reserve
study recommendations, and property tax assessed value analysis. In the event we move forward with this new product line, we will seek to provide services and advice inside of
our core competency of community association finance in an effort to drive demand for our financial products.
In our original product offering, we typically purchase an Association’s right to receive a portion of the proceeds collected from delinquent unit owners. Once under contract,
we engage law firms, typically on behalf of our Association clients pursuant to a power of attorney, to perform collection work on delinquent unit Accounts. Our law firms
typically service collection matters on a deferred billing basis whereby payment is received upon collection from the delinquent unit Account debtors or at a predetermined
contractual rate if amounts collected from delinquent unit Account debtors are less than legal fees and costs incurred. We typically fund an amount less than or equal to the
statutory “Super Lien Amount” an Association would recover at some point in the future based on the Association’s statutory lien priority. Upon collection of an Account, the
law firm retained for the collection matter distributes proceeds pursuant to the terms of the agreement by and between the
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Association and us. Not all agreements are the same, but our typical payoff distribution will result in us first recovering amounts advanced to the Association, interest, late fees,
and costs advanced, with legal fees kept by the retained law firm, and assessment amounts remitted to the Association client. In connection with our business, we have
developed proprietary software for servicing Accounts, which we believe enables law firms to service Accounts efficiently and profitably.
Under the New Neighbor Guaranty program, an Association will generally assign substantially all of its outstanding indebtedness and accruals on its delinquent units to us in
exchange for payment by us of an amount less than or equal to the monthly assessment payment for each assigned delinquent unit Account. This simultaneously eliminates a
substantial portion of the Association’s balance sheet bad debts and assists the Association in meeting its budget by both guaranteeing periodic revenues and relieving the
Association of its legal fee and cost burdens typically incurred to collect bad debts.
In our initial underwriting of an Association and its individual Accounts, we review the property values of the underlying units, the governing documents of the Association,
the total number of delinquent receivables held by the Association, the legal proceedings instituted, and many other factors. While we are relatively certain of the actions
necessary to produce a revenue event, we cannot predict when an individual delinquent unit Account will have a revenue event or payoff.
Our former subsidiary IIU through its wholly owned company Wallach and Company (“Wallach”) offers health insurance, travel insurance and other travel services to:
•
•

United States citizens and residents traveling abroad; and
Non United States citizens or residents who travel to the United States

These services are typically sold through a policy offered by Wallach and fully underwritten by a third party insurance company. The policies offered include: HealthCare
Abroad, HealthCare Global, HealthCare America, HealthCare International, HealthCare War.
Corporate History and Reorganization
The Company was originally organized in January 2008 as a Florida limited liability company under the name LM Funding, LLC. Historically, all of our business was
conducted through LM Funding, LLC and its subsidiaries (the “Predecessor”). Immediately prior to our initial public offering in October 2015, the members of the LM
Funding, LLC contributed all of their membership interests to LM Funding America, Inc., a Delaware corporation incorporated on April 20, 2015 (“LMFA”), in exchange for
an aggregate of 2,100,000 shares of the common stock of LMFA (the “Corporate Reorganization”). Immediately after such contribution and exchange, the former members of
LM Funding, LLC became the holders of 100% of the issued and outstanding common stock of LMFA, thereby making LM Funding, LLC a wholly-owned subsidiary of
LMFA. As used in this discussion and analysis, unless the context requires otherwise, references to “LMF,” “LM Funding,” “we,” “us,” “our,” “the Company,” “our company,”
and similar references refer to (i) following the date of the Corporate Reorganization, LM Funding America, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and its consolidated subsidiaries, and
(ii) prior to the date of the Corporate Reorganization, LM Funding, LLC, a Florida limited liability company, and its consolidated subsidiaries.
IIU Acquisition
On November 2, 2018, the Company invested cash by purchasing a Securities Purchase Agreement (the “IIU SPA”) from IIU Inc. (“IIU”), a synergistic Virginia based travel
insurance brokerage company controlled by Craven House North America, LLC (“Craven”) N.A., (whose ownership excluding unexercised warrants was approximately 20% of
the Company’s outstanding stock at the time of the acquisition) pursuant to which IIU issued to the Company a Senior Convertible Promissory Note (“IIU Note”) in the original
principal amount of $1,500,000. The maturity date of the Note was 360 dates after the date of issuance (subject to acceleration upon an event of default). The Note carried a
3.0% interest rate, with accrued but unpaid interest being payable on the Note’s maturity date.
On January 16, 2019, the Company entered into a Stock Purchase Agreement withCraven to purchase all of outstanding capital stock of IIU as a possible synergistic effort to
diversify revenue sources that are believed to be accretive to earnings. IIU provides global medical insurance products for international travelers, specializing in policies
covering high-risk destinations, emerging markets and foreign travelers coming to the United States. All policies are fully underwritten with no claim risk remaining with IIU.
The Company purchased 100% of the issued and outstanding capital stock of IIU from Craven for $5,089,357 subject to adjustment as set forth in the IIU SPA. IIU was
required to have a minimum net working capital of $15,000 and at least $152,000 in cash. The Company paid the Purchase Price under the IIU SPA at closing as follows:
•

The Company cancelled all principal and accrued interest of the IIU Note, which consisted of aggregate principal indebtedness and accrued interest of $1,507,375
as of January 16, 2019.
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•

•

The Company issued to Craven a $3,581,982 Senior Convertible Promissory Note (the “Craven Convertible Note”) for the balance of the purchase price. At the
option of Craven, the Craven Convertible Note could be paid in restricted shares of our common stock or cash. The Craven Convertible Note bore simple interest
at 3% per annum. The Craven Convertible Note was due and payable 360 days from the closing date of the IIU SPA. If repaid by the Company in restricted
common stock, the outstanding principal and interest of the Craven Convertible Note would be paid by the Company by issuing to Craven a number of restricted
common shares equal to the adjusted principal and accrued interest owing to Craven under the Craven Convertible Note divided by $2.41.
Pursuant to the terms of the IIU SPA, the purchase price was subsequently reduced by $120,200, to $4,969,200.

On December 20, 2019, the Company loaned $1.5 million to Craven (“Craven Secured Promissory Note”) which had an initial maturity date of April 15, 2020 and carried an
interest rate of 0.5% that is to be paid monthly. The Company subsequently extended the due date of the Craven Secured Promissory Note to August 1, 2021. The Craven
Secured Promissory Note is secured by, among other things, Stock Pledge of Craven’s 640,000 Common Shares of the Company and the Assignment of the assets of Craven in
favor of the Company.
IIU Disposal
On January 8, 2020, the Company entered into a Stock Purchase Agreement (“SPA”) with Craven pursuant to which the Company sold to Craven all of the issued and
outstanding shares of IIU, Inc., a Virginia based travel insurance brokerage company and wholly owned subsidiary of LMFA (“IIU”), for $3,562,569. The purchase price was
paid by Craven through the cancellation of the $3,461,782 Convertible Promissory Note issued by LMFA to Craven dated January 16, 2019 plus forgiveness of $100,787 of
accrued interest. LMFA originally paid $4,969,200 for the purchase of IIU in January 2019, which included a negative $720,386 net fair value of assets and $5,689,586 of
goodwill. LMFA estimates the sale of IIU will result in a loss of approximately $1.65 million.
Entry into Hanfor Share Exchange Agreement
On March 23, 2020, the Company entered into a Share Exchange Agreement, dated March 23, 2020 (the “Share Exchange Agreement”), withHanfor (Cayman) Limited, a
Cayman Islands exempted company (“Hanfor”), and BZ Industrial Limited, a British Virgin Islands business company and the sole stockholder of Hanfor (“Hanfor
Owner”). The Share Exchange Agreement provides for a business combination transaction in which Hanfor Owner will transfer and assign to the Company all of the share
capital of Hanfor in exchange for a number of shares of the Company’s common stock that will result in Hanfor Owner owning 86.5% of the outstanding common stock of the
Company (the “Hanfor Exchange Transaction”). Upon the closing of the Hanfor Exchange Transaction, Hanfor will become a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. The
parties’ respective obligations to complete the Hanfor Exchange Transaction are subject to various closing conditions, including the approval of the Hanfor Exchange
Transaction by the Company’s stockholders at a duly called stockholder meeting; the receipt of a fairness opinion by the Company’s board of directors for the Hanfor Exchange
Transaction; the absence of a material adverse change in the business, assets, or operations of Hanfor; the exercise of outstanding warrants to purchase at least 729,167 shares of
Company common stock (or Hanfor Owner’s purchase of shares in a private placement in lieu thereof); and various customary closing conditions. The conditions to Hanfor
Owner’s and Hanfor’s obligation to complete the Hanfor Exchange Transaction will include the continued listing of the Company’s common stock on the Nasdaq Stock Market;
the absence of a material adverse change in the business, assets, or operations of the Company; and other customary closing conditions. In addition to the foregoing, the Share
Exchange Agreement contains other customary and negotiated representations, warranties, and covenants, including a covenant not to solicit alternative transactions. Under the
agreement, Hanfor Owner is required to deliver to the Company audited financial statements for Hanfor for the 2019 and 2018 fiscal years, with such audited financial
statements required to be delivered by May 31, 2020 (subject to extension to June 30, 2020 under specified circumstances). In connection with the execution of the Share
Exchange Agreement, the Company and Hanfor Owner entered into a Stock Purchase Agreement, dated March 23, 2020, pursuant to which Hanfor Owner purchased from
Company an aggregate of 520,833 shares of the Company’s common stock at a price of $2.40 per share.
Results of Operations
The Year Ended December 31, 2019 compared with the Year Ended December 31, 2018
Revenues
During the year ended December 31, 2019, total revenues decreased by $0.4 million, or 10.7%, to $3.0 million from $3.4 million in the year ended December 31, 2018. The
decrease is due in part to a decrease in interest, administrative and late fees collected during the year offset by $0.6 million of net commission revenue.
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The decrease in interest, administrative and late fees was the result of a decrease in the average revenue collected per unit. The average revenue per unit wasup to $5,195 for
the year ended December 31, 2019 compared with $3,415 for the year ended December 31, 2018. However, there was a 36% decrease in payoffs as the Company recorded
approximately 502 payoff occurrences for the year ended December 31, 2019 compared with 785 payoff occurrences for the year ended December 31, 2018. “Payoffs” consist
of recovery of the entire legally collectible portion, or a settlement thereof, of our principal investment, accrued interest, and late fees owed to us from the proceeds of the
Accounts collected by the Associations in accordance with our contracts with Associations.
Rental revenue (which includes sales of units) for the year ended December 31, 2019 was $0.4 million as compared to $0.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2018.
There were 13 rental units in the portfolio as December 31, 2019 compared with 17 rental units as of December 31, 2018.
Operating Expenses
During the year ended December 31, 2019, operating expenses increased $2.1 million, or 55%, to $5.9 million from $3.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2018. The
increase in operating expenses can be attributed to various factors including a $1.65 million goodwill impairment, an increase in general and administrative expenses of $0.2
million as the result of the addition of IIU, higher professional fees of $0.5 million due to fees associated with strategic alternatives and insurance reimbursement of legal fees in
2018 of $0.2 million, offset in part by a $0.2 million reduction in real estate expenses and a $0.2 million recoupment of related party bad debt written off in 2017.
During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company assessed the goodwill attached to the purchase of IIU, Inc. in light of the sale of that entity to Craven House Capital
North America for approximately $3.6 million. As such, we determined that goodwill was negatively impacted and reduced goodwill by $1.65 million.
Legal fees (excluding fees paid pursuant to our service agreement with BLG), for the year ended December 31, 2019 were approximately $0.8 million compared with
approximately $0.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2018 due in part to costs associated with strategic alternatives and other litigation. In the ordinary course of our
business, we are involved in numerous legal proceedings. We regularly initiate collection lawsuits, using our network of third-party law firms, against debtors. In
addition, debtors occasionally initiate litigation against us. Legal fees for BLG for the year ended December 31, 2019 were $1.1 million compared to $1.0 million for the year
ended December 31, 2018. See Note 11. Related Party Transactions for further discussion regarding the service agreements with BLG.
Interest Expense
During the year ended December 31, 2019, interest expense declined by $0.4 million to $0.1 million compared to $0.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2018.
Of the $0.5 million interest expense for 2018, $154 thousand was due to the issuance of warrants in conjunction with a $0.5 million loan that was treated as a discount which
was amortized as interest expense. The remainder consisted of $30 thousand of cash interest expense and $0.3 million of debt issuance costs amortized during the year. The
amortization of debt issuance costs is being reported as interest expense under ASU 2015-03 (ASC 835-30-45-3).
Loss on Litigation
There was no loss on litigation for 2019. During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company settled the Solaris at Brickell Bay Condominium Association, Inc. v. LM
Funding class action litigation and adjusted the $505,000 class action accrual that was incurred during the twelve months ended December 31, 2017 to $100,000 with the
$405,000 change reflected as other income.
Income Tax Provision (Benefit)
The Company did not record an income tax benefit or expense for the year ended December 31, 2019 or 2018 due to continuing losses.
Under ASC 740-10-30-5, Income Taxes, deferred tax assets should be reduced by a valuation allowance if, based on the weight of available evidence, it is more-likely-than-not
(i.e., a likelihood of more than 50%) that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The Company considers all positive and negative evidence available
in determining the potential realization of deferred tax assets including, primarily, the recent history of taxable earnings or losses. Based on operating losses reported by the
Company during 2019 and 2018, the Company concluded there was not sufficient positive evidence to overcome this recent operating history. As a result, the Company believes
that a valuation allowance continues to be necessary based on the more-likely-than-not threshold noted above. The Company recorded a valuation allowance of
approximately $3.6 million and $3.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively
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Net Loss
During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company generated a net loss of $3.0 million as compared to a net loss of $0.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2018 for
the reasons mentioned above.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
General
As of December 31, 2019, we had cash and cash equivalents of $1.1 million compared with $3.5 million at December 31, 2018. The decrease in cash is due primarily to
decrease in revenues and profitability along with a $1.5 million purchase of a senior secured convertible note.
Cash from Operations
Net cash used in operations was $1.2 million during the year ended December 31, 2019 compared with $0.8 million during the year ended December 31, 2018. This change was
primarily driven by a $2.5 million reduction in net income which includes the $1.65 million goodwill impairment described above.
Cash from Investing Activities
Net cash used in investing activities was $1.1 million during the year ended December 31, 2019 as compared to net cash used in investing activities of $1.1 million during the
year ended December 31, 2018. For the year ended December 31, 2019, cash generated from our net finance receivables fell by $0.1 million compared to the year ended
December 31, 2018. Our primary business relies on our ability to invest in Accounts, and during the year ended December 31, 2019, this balance decreased compared with the
year ended December 31, 2018. This balance has been in consistent decline since 2012. This balance is very susceptible to housing market fluctuations.
Cash from Financing Activities
Net cash used in financing activities was $0.2 million during the year ended December 31, 2019 as compared to net cash provided by financing activities of $4.8 million for the
year ended December 31, 2018. During 2018, the Company generated $5.2 million from the issuance of shares offset in part by $0.3 million in debt issuance costs. During
2019, the Company repaid $0.2 million in principal repayments.
The Company is obligated to pay Associations with which it has contracts approximately $12,000 over the next 12 months for those units that are managed by us under our
original product, and it is committed to pay approximately $36,000 to Associations with which it has contracts under the New Neighbor Guaranty program over the next 36
months.
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Outstanding Debt
Debt of the Company consisted of the following:
Year ended December 31,
2019
2018
Financing agreement with FlatIron capital that is unsecured. Down payment of $28,125 was required upfront and
equal installment payments of $8,701 to be made over a 10 month period. The note matured on May 31, 2019.
Annualized interest is 5.99%

$

Financing agreement with FlatIron capital that is unsecured. Down payment of $19,170 was required upfront and
equal installment payments of $11,590 to be made over a 11 month period. The note matures on June 1, 2020.
Annualized interest is 6.8%
Senior secured convertible note to Craven House Capital North America LLC (Related Party), bearing interest at
3.0%. Note was issued on January 16, 2019 and either matured on either January 14, 2020 or became convertible
into 1,436,424 shares of the Company's common stock. The value of the beneficial conversion feature as of January
16, 2019 was zero.*
Promissory note issued by a financial institution, bearing interest at 9.09%, interest and principal payments due
monthly of $323. Note is secured by an automobile and was issued on July 26, 2019 with original borrowings of
$12,892. The note matures on August 26, 2023.
Promissory note issued by a financial institution, bearing interest at 5.85%, interest and principal payments due
monthly of $10,932. Note was issued on May 31, 2018 with original borrowings of $608,000 and subsequent
borrowings of $141,000 and repayments of $51,000. The note matures on May 30, 2025 and can be prepaid at any
time without penalty. This note is secured by the Company’s inventory, chattel paper, accounts, equipment and
general intangible intangibles and deposit accounts.

-

$

42,875

69,540

-

3,461,782

-

11,802

-

606,454
$

4,149,578

$

42,875

* The $3.5 million Craven was forgiven in connection with Craven’s repurchase of IIU on January 8, 2020 pursuant to the terms of the Craven SPA.
Minimum required principal payments on the Company’s debt as of December 31, 2019 are as follows :
Years Ending December 31
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024

$3,631,994
107,013
113,648
119,090
177,833
$4,149,578

Recent Capital Raising Transaction
In connection with the execution of the Share Exchange Agreement with Hanfor, the Company, and Hanfor Owner entered into a Stock Purchase Agreement, dated March 23,
2020, pursuant to which Hanfor Owner purchased from Company an aggregate of 520,833 shares of the Company’s common stock at a price of $2.40 per share, resulting in
aggregate gross proceeds to the Company of $1.3 million. The Company did not have any financing transactions in 2019.
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Liquidity Outlook
The Company has experienced operating losses over the past 4 years (2016, 2017, 2018 and 2019) with cumulative losses of approximately $14.5 million as a result of
declining revenues and high expenses due to a number of factors. These losses resulted in the usage of all cash proceeds from the Company’s initial public offering in 2015.
The Company recently settled the $3,461,782 note and $100,787 accrued interest owed to Craven by exchanging the note and accrued interest for ownership of IIU, Inc. and
received $1.25 million as part of a merger with Hanfor’s Owner.
However, we may not have enough cash to satisfy our estimated liquidity needs for the 12 months from the issuance of these financial statements. We cannot state with
certainty that the Hanfor merger will close and depending upon the circumstances under which the merger would be terminated, we may not have sufficient liquidity to meet the
obligations of the company.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements.
Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
Not applicable
Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.
The Financial Statements of the Company, the Notes thereto and the Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm thereon required by this Item 8 begin on page F1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K located immediately following the signature page.
Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.
None
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures
pursuant to Rule 13a-15 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report. In designing
and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only
reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives. In addition, the design of disclosure controls and procedures must reflect the fact that there are resource
constraints and that management is required to apply its judgment in evaluating the benefits of possible controls and procedures relative to their costs.
Based on management’s evaluation (in accordance with Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(b)), our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of
December 31, 2019, due to the weakness in internal control over financial reporting described below, our disclosure controls and procedures are not designed at a reasonable
assurance level or effective to provide reasonable assurance that information we are required to disclose in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded,
processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the Commission’s rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our
management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. As discussed below,
we plan on increasing the size of our accounting staff at the appropriate time for our business and its size to ameliorate our auditor’s concern that the Company does not
effectively segregate certain accounting duties, which we believe would resolve the material weakness in internal control over financial reporting and similarly improve
disclosure controls and procedures, but there can be no assurances as to the timing of any such action or that the Company will be able to do so.
Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting.
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). Our
management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over
financial reporting based on the criteria set
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forth in Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.
Our management assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019. Based on that assessment, our management
determined that, as of December 31, 2019, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was not effective for the purposes for which it is intended. Specifically,
management’s determination was based on the following material weaknesses which existed as of December 31, 2019.
During 2017 to the present, the number of full time employees at the Company declined from 19 to 9. The Company has not expanded its accounting and finance staff since that
time. From 2017 through 2019, the Company did not effectively segregate certain accounting duties due to the small size of its remaining accounting staff. A material weakness
is a deficiency, or a combination of control deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of our
annual or interim consolidated financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Notwithstanding the determination that our internal control over financial
reporting was not effective, as of December 31, 2019, and that there was a material weakness as identified in this Annual Report, we believe that our consolidated financial
statements contained in this Annual Report fairly present our financial position, results of operations and cash flows for the years covered hereby in all material respects.
This Annual Report does not include an attestation report by MaloneBailey LLP, our independent registered public accounting firm, regarding internal control over financial
reporting. As a smaller reporting company, our management's report was not subject to attestation by our registered public accounting firm pursuant to rules of the SEC that
permit us to provide only management’s report in this Annual Report.
Changes in Control Over Financial Reporting.
We regularly review our system of internal control over financial reporting and make changes to our processes and systems to improve controls and increase efficiency.
Changes may include such activities as implementing new, more efficient systems, consolidating activities, and migrating processes. There were no changes in our internal
control over financial reporting that occurred during the three months ended December 31, 2019 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our
internal control over financial reporting. Although we plan to increase the size of our accounting staff at the appropriate time for our business and its size to ameliorate our
auditor’s concern that the Company does not effectively segregate certain accounting duties, there can be no assurances as to the timing of any such action or that the Company
will be able to do so.
Item 9B. Other Information.
None
PART III
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.
The information required by this Item will be included in and is hereby incorporated by reference from our definitive proxy statement relating to our 2020 annual meeting of
stockholders, which we intend to file within 120 days after the end of our fiscal year ended December 31, 2019.
Item 11. Executive Compensation.
Summary Compensation Table
The information required by this Item will be included in and is hereby incorporated by reference from our definitive proxy statement relating to our 2020 annual meeting of
stockholders, which we intend to file within 120 days after the end of our fiscal year ended December 31, 2019.
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Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Ben eficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.
The information required by this Item will be included in and is hereby incorporated by reference from our definitive proxy statement relating to our 2020 annual meeting of
stockholders, which we intend to file within 120 days after the end of our fiscal year ended December 31, 2019.
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.
The information required by this Item will be included in and is hereby incorporated by reference from our definitive proxy statement relating to our 2020 annual meeting of
stockholders, which we intend to file within 120 days after the end of our fiscal year ended December 31, 2019.
Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services.
The information required by this Item will be included in and is hereby incorporated by reference from our definitive proxy statement relating to our 2020 annual meeting of
stockholders, which we intend to file within 120 days after the end of our fiscal year ended December 31, 2019.

PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.
(a) The following documents are filed as a part of this report:
1. Financial Statements. See the Index to Consolidated Financial Statements on page F-1.
2. Exhibits. See Item 15(b) below.
(b) Exhibits. The exhibits listed on the Exhibit Index, which appears at the end of this report, are filed as part of, or are incorporated by reference into, this report.
(c) Financial Statement Schedule. See Item 15(a)(1) above.
Item 16. Form 10-K Summary.
None.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the shareholders and board of directors of
LM Funding America, Inc.
Opinion on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of LM Funding America, Inc. and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Company”) as of December 31, 2019 and
December 31, 2018, and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes
(collectively referred to as the “financial statements”). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of
December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the years then ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.
Going Concern Matter
The accompanying financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going concern. As discussed in Note 14 to the financial statements,
the Company has suffered recurring losses from operations and has a net capital deficiency that raises substantial doubt about its ability to continue as a going concern.
Management's plans in regard to these matters are also described in Note 14. The financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this
uncertainty.
Basis for Opinion
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial statements based on our
audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) ("PCAOB") and are required to be independent with
respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the
PCAOB.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an
audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.
Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that
respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included
evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe
that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
/s/ MaloneBailey, LLP
www.malonebailey.com
We have served as the Company's auditor since 2018.
Houston, Texas
April 14, 2020
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LM FUNDING AMERICA, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
December 31,
2019
Assets
Cash
Finance receivables:
Original product (Note 2)
Special product - New Neighbor Guaranty program, net of allowance for credit losses of (Note 3)
Due from related party (Note 11)
Other investments - related party receivable
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Current assets

$

1,069,823

December 31,
2018
$

3,520,753

273,711
129,272
152,783
147,568
1,773,157

425,012
237,043
25,507
1,507,375
155,420
5,871,110

Fixed assets, net
Real estate assets owned (Note 5)
Operating lease - right of use assets (Note 8)
Other assets
Other investments - related party receivable
Goodwill (Note 6)

35,533
21,084
260,260
11,021
1,500,000
4,039,586

33,818
122,604

Long-term assets

5,867,484

188,458

Total assets

$

7,640,641

32,036
-

$

6,059,568

Liabilities and stockholders' equity
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Related party convertible note payable
Notes payable - short-term (Note 7)
Tax liability
Other liabilities and obligations
Current liabilities

354,876
3,461,782
170,212
14,226
21,153
4,022,249

188,354
42,875

Notes payable - long-term (Note 7)
Operating lease liability (Note 8)
Long-term liabilities
Total liabilities

517,584
265,883
783,467
4,805,716

250,919

Stockholders' equity (Note 10)
Common stock, par value $.001; 30,000,000 shares authorized; 3,134,261 and 3,124,961 shares issued and
outstanding as of December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders' equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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3,134
17,326,553
(14,494,762 )
2,834,925
7,640,641

19,690
250,919

$

3,125
17,295,408
(11,489,884 )
5,808,649
6,059,568

LM FUNDING AMERICA, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

2019
Revenues
Interest on delinquent association fees
Administrative and late fees
Recoveries in excess of cost - special product
Underwriting fees and other revenues
Net commission revenue
Rental revenue
Total revenues

$

Operating expenses
Staff costs & payroll
Professional fees
Settlement costs with associations
Selling, general and administrative
Real estate management and disposal
Depreciation and amortization
Collection costs
Recovery of cost from related party receivable
Provision for credit losses
Impairment of goodwill
Other operating
Total operating expenses

Years ended December 31,
2018

1,510,237
145,295
97,361
215,068
639,815
417,612
3,025,388

$

1,409,321
1,872,305
68,188
515,488
460,978
63,760
(17,893 )
(190,000 )
266
1,650,000
62,113
5,894,526

Operating loss
Gain on disposal of assets
Gain on litigation
Interest expense
Total other expenses
Loss before income taxes

1,374,129
1,331,482
40,027
323,030
627,384
68,263
19,025
581
17,964
3,801,885

(2,869,138 )

(412,348 )

(6,421 )
142,161
135,740

(405,000 )
464,811
59,811

(3,004,878 )

(472,159 )

Income tax (reduction) benefit

-

Net loss to common stockholders
Loss per share attributable to the stockholders of LM Funding America, Inc.
Basic
Diluted
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding
Basic
Diluted

-

$

(3,004,878 )

$

(472,159 )

$
$

(0.96 )
(0.96 )

$
$

(0.47 )
(0.47 )

3,133,689
3,133,689

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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2,084,287
230,756
118,540
246,904
709,050
3,389,537

996,710
996,710

LM FUNDING AMERICA, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECMEBER 31, 2019 AND 2018
Common Stock

Balance - December 31, 2017
Stock issuance for cash
Stock option expense
Warrants issued with debt
Purchase of fractional common shares
Net loss
Balance - December 31, 2018
Stock option expense
Stock issued for warrants exercised
Net loss
Balance - December 31, 2019

Shares
625,318
2,500,000
(357 )
3,124,961
9,300
3,134,261

Amount
$

625
2,500
3,125
9
3,134

$

Additional paid-in
capital
$
11,914,083
5,203,773
24,770
154,676
(1,894 )
17,295,408
8,834
22,311
$
17,326,553

Accumulated Deficit
$
(11,017,725 )
-

(472,159 )
(11,489,884 )
-

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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$

(3,004,878 )
(14,494,762 )

$

Total Equity
896,983
5,206,273
24,770
154,676
(1,894 )
(472,159 )
5,808,649
8,834
22,320
(3,004,878 )
2,834,925

LM FUNDING AMERICA, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Years ended December 31,
2019
2018
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to cash used in operating activities
Depreciation and amortization
Warrants issued with debt amortization
Right to use asset expense
Stock compensation
Goodwill impairment
Recovery of reserve from related party receivable
Amortization of debt issuance costs
Gain on litigation
Gain on termination of operating lease
Gain on sale of fixed assets
Interest income
Change in operating assets and liabilities:
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Advances (repayments) to related party
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Other liabilities and obligations
Lease liability payments
Deferred taxes
Net cash used in operating activities
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Net collections of finance receivables - original product
Net collections of finance receivables - special product
Net cash received from business acquisition
Cash paid to purchase fixed assets
Investment in note receivable - related party
Cash received from sales of fixed assets
Proceeds for real estate assets owned

(3,004,878 )
$

Net cash used in investing activities
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net of issuance cost
Proceeds from borrowings
Principal repayments
Proceeds from exercise of warrants
Purchase of fractional common shares
Debt issue costs
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH
CASH - BEGINNING OF YEAR
CASH - END OF YEAR

$

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASHFLOW INFORMATION
Cash paid for interest
Cash paid for income taxes
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF NON-CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Debt discount on issuance of warrants
Insurance financing
Financing loan for purchase of fixed asset
ROU asset obligation recognized

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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$

63,760
—
51,809
8,834
1,650,000
(190,000 )
—
—
(1,421 )
(5,000 )
—

(472,159 )
$

68,263
154,676
—
24,770
—
—
291,760
(405,000 )
—
—
(7,375 )

176,093
62,724
85,045
1,463
(44,765 )
(14,200 )
(1,160,536 )

31,517
(25,507 )
(389,599 )
(29,663 )
—
—
(758,317 )

151,301
107,771
51,327
(14,049 )
(1,500,000 )
5,000

212,925
102,428
—
(1,500,000 )

80,076
(1,118,574 )

41,527
(1,143,120 )

—
—
(194,140 )
22,320
—
—
(171,820 )
(2,450,930 )
3,520,753
1,069,823

5,206,273
500,000
(580,823 )
—
(1,894 )
(291,760 )
4,831,796
2,930,359
590,394
3,520,753

41,374
127,490
12,892
331,477

$

$

29,401
154,676
84,670
-

LM FUNDING AMERICA, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018
Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Nature of Operations
LM Funding America, Inc. (“LMFA” or the “Company”) was formed as a Delaware corporation on April 20, 2015. LMFA was formed for the purpose of completing a public
offering and related transactions in order to carry on the business of LM Funding, LLC and its subsidiaries (the “Predecessor”). LMFA is the sole member of LM Funding, LLC
and operates and controls all of its businesses and affairs.
LM Funding, LLC a Florida limited liability company organized in January 2008 under the terms of an Operating Agreement dated effective January 8, 2008 as amended, had
two members: BRR Holding, LLC and CGR 63, LLC. The members contributed their equity interest to LMFA prior to the closing of its initial public offering.
The Company acquired IIU, Inc. (“IIU”), a Virginia based travel insurance brokerage company which provides global medical insurance products for international travelers,
specializing in policies covering high-risk destinations, emerging markets and foreign travelers coming to the United States, on January 16, 2019.
On January 8, 2020, the Company entered into a Stock Purchase Agreement (the “Craven SPA”) with Craven House Capital North America LLC(“Craven”) pursuant to which
the Company sold to Craven all of the issued and outstanding shares of IIU for $3,562,569. The purchase price was paid by Craven through the cancellation of the $3,461,782
Convertible Promissory Note issued by LMFA to Craven on January 16, 2019 in connection with the purchase of IIU (the “Craven Convertible Note”), plus forgiveness of
$100,787 of accrued interest under the Craven Convertible Note. LMFA originally paid Craven $4,969,200 for the purchase of IIU in January 2019, which included a negative
$720,386 net fair value of assets and $5,689,586 of goodwill. As a result goodwill was impaired by $1.65 million.
During 2019, we were a diversified business with two focuses:
•

•

specialty finance company that provides funding to nonprofit community associations primarily located in the state of Florida. We offer incorporated nonprofit
community associations, which we refer to as “Associations,” a variety of financial products customized to each Association’s financial needs. Our original product
offering consists of providing funding to Associations by purchasing their rights under delinquent accounts that are selected by the Associations arising from
unpaid Association assessments. Historically, we provided funding against such delinquent accounts, which we refer to as “Accounts,” in exchange for a portion of
the proceeds collected by the Associations from the Account debtors on the Accounts. We have started purchasing Accounts on varying terms tailored to suit each
Association’s financial needs, including under our New Neighbor Guaranty™ program.
purchased on January 16, 2019. IIU provided global medical insurance products for international travelers, specializing in policies covering high-risk destinations,
emerging markets and foreign travelers coming to the United States. All policies were fully underwritten with no claim risk remaining with IIU.

Specialty Finance
The Company has a specialty finance company that provides funding principally to Associations that are almost exclusively located in Florida. The business of the Company is
conducted pursuant to relevant state statutes (the “Statutes”), principally Florida Statute 718.116. The Statutes provide each Association lien rights to secure payment from unit
owners (property owners) for assessments, interest, administrative late fees, reasonable attorneys’ fees, and collection costs. In addition, the lien rights granted under the Statutes
are given a higher priority (a “Super Lien”) than all other lien holders except property tax liens. The Company provides funding to Associations for their delinquent assessments
from property owners in exchange for an assignment of the Association’s right to collect proceeds pursuant to the Statutes. The Company derives its revenues from the proceeds
of Association collections.
The Statutes specify that the rate of interest an Association (or its assignor) may charge on delinquent assessments is equal to the rate set forth in the Association’s declaration
or bylaws. In Florida if a rate is not specified, the statutory rate is equal to 18% but may not exceed the maximum rate allowed by law. Similarly, the Statutes in Florida also
stipulate that administrative late fees cannot be charged on delinquent assessments unless so provided by the Association’s declaration or bylaws and may not exceed the greater
of $25 or 5% of each delinquent assessment.
The Statutes limit the liability of a first mortgage holder for unpaid assessments and related charges and fees (as set forth above) in the event of title transfer by foreclosure or
acceptance of deed in lieu of foreclosure. This liability is limited to the lesser of twelve months of regular periodic assessments or one percent of the original mortgage debt on
the unit (the “Super Lien Amount”).
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LM FUNDING AMERICA, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Specialty Health Insurance
Our subsidiary IIU through its wholly owned company Wallach and Company (“Wallach”) offers health insurance, travel insurance and other travel services to:
•
•

United States citizens and residents traveling abroad
Non United States citizens or residents who travel to the United States

These services are typically sold through a policy offered by Wallach and fully underwritten by a third party insurance company. The policies offered include:
•
•
•
•
•

HealthCare Abroad - Short term medical insurance, medical evacuation and international assistance for Americans traveling overseas. There is an age limit of 84
years old.
HealthCare Global – up to 6 months coverage for Americans traveling abroad and foreign nationals traveling outside their home countries to destinations other
than the United States. There is an age limit of 70 years old.
HealthCare America – up to 90 days coverage for foreign nationals visiting the United States. There is an age limit of 70 years old.
HealthCare International – International medical insurance & assistance for persons living outside their home country. There is an age limit of 70 years old.
HealthCare War – up to 6 months coverage for Americans traveling abroad and foreign nationals traveling outside their home countries to identified war risk
areas. There is an age limit of 70 years old.

Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of LMFA and its wholly-owned subsidiaries: LM Funding, LLC; LMF October 2010 Fund, LLC; REO Management
Holdings, LLC (including all 100% owned subsidiary limited liability companies); LM Funding of Colorado, LLC; LM Funding of Washington, LLC; LM Funding of Illinois,
LLC; and LMF SPE #2, LLC and various single purpose limited liability corporations owned by REO Management Holdings, LLC which own various properties. It also
includes IIU Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiary; Wallach & Company. All significant intercompany balances have been eliminated in consolidation
Basis of Presentation
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared pursuant to the rules and regulations of the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). The
Company prepares its consolidated financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States (“GAAP”).
Use of Estimates
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses
during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Significant estimates include the evaluation of any probable losses on amounts funded under the
Company’s New Neighbor Guaranty program as disclosed below, the evaluation of probable losses on balances due from a related party, the realization of deferred tax assets,
the evaluation of contingent losses related to litigation, fair value estimates of real estate assets owned and impairment of goodwill and reserves on notes receivables.
Revenue Recognition
Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 606 of the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) states an entity needs to conclude at the inception of the contract that
collectability of the consideration to which it will be entitled in exchange for the goods and services that will be transferred to the customer is probable. That is, in some
circumstances, an entity may not need to assess its ability to collect all of the consideration in the contract. The Company provides funding to Associations by purchasing their
rights under delinquent accounts from unpaid assessments due from property owners. Collections on the Accounts may vary greatly in both the timing and amount ultimately
recovered compared with the total revenues earned on the Accounts because of a variety of economic and social factors affecting the real estate environment in general.
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LM FUNDING AMERICA, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Company’s contracts with its customers have very specific performance obligations. The Company has determined that the known amount of cash to be realized or
realizable on its revenue generating activities cannot be reasonably estimate and as such, classifies its finance receivables as nonaccrual and recognizes revenues in the
accompanying statements of income on the cash basis or cost recovery method in accordance with ASC 310-10, Receivables. The Company’s operations also consist of rental
revenue earned from tenants under leasing arrangements which provide for rent income. The leases have been accounted for as operating leases. For operating leases, revenue is
recorded based on cash rental payments was collected during the period. The Company analyzed its remaining revenue streams and concluded there were no changes in revenue
recognition with the adoption of the new standard.
Under ASC 606, the Company applies the cash basis method to its original product and the cost recovery method to its special product as follows:
Finance Receivables—Original Product: Under the Company’s original product, delinquent assessments are funded only up to the Super Lien Amount as discussed above.
Recoverability of funded amounts is generally assured because of the protection of the Super Lien Amount. As such, payments by unit owners on the Company’s original
product are recorded to income when received in accordance with the provisions of the Florida Statute (718.116(3)) and the provisions of the purchase agreements entered into
between the Company and Associations. Those provisions require that all payments be applied in the following order: first to interest, then to late fees, then to costs of
collection, then to legal fees expended by the Company and then to assessments owed. In accordance with the cash basis method of recognizing revenue and the provisions of
the statute, the Company records revenues for interest and late fees when cash is received. In the event the Company determines the ultimate collectability of amounts funded
under its original product are in doubt, payments are applied to first reduce the funded or principal amount.
Finance Receivables—Special Product (New Neighbor Guaranty program): During 2012, the Company began offering associations an alternative product under the New
Neighbor Guaranty program whereby the Company will fund amounts in excess of the Super Lien Amount. Under this special product, the Company purchases substantially all
of the delinquent assessments owed to the association, in addition to all accrued interest and late fees, in exchange for payment by the Company of (i) a negotiated amount or
(ii) on a going forward basis, all monthly assessments due for a period up to 48 months. Under these arrangements, the Company considers the collection of amounts funded is
not assured and under the cost recovery method, cash collected is applied to first reduce the carrying value of the funded or principal amount with any remaining proceeds
applied next to interest, late fees, legal fees, collection costs and any amounts due to the Association. Any excess proceeds still remaining are recognized as revenues. If the
future proceeds collected are lower than the Company’s funded or principal amount, then a loss is recognized.
Net Commission Revenue: The Company acts as an agent in providing health travel insurance policies. As a result, the Company revenue is recorded at net. The Company has
determined that the known amount of cash to be realized or realizable on its revenue generating activities can be reasonably estimated and as such, classifies its receivables as
accrual and recognizes revenues in the accompanying statements of income on the accrual basis. If a policy is not effective as of the end of a period, then the associated
revenue and underwriting costs are deferred until the effective date. The majority of the commission revenue is underwritten by two policy underwriters who pays the Company
commissions.
Cash
The Company maintains cash balances at several financial institutions that are insured under the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation’s (“FDIC”) Transition Account
Guarantee Program. Balances with the financial institutions may exceed federally insured limits.
Finance Receivables
Finance receivables are recorded at the amount funded or cost (by unit). The Company evaluates its finance receivables at each period end for losses that are considered
probable and can be reasonably estimated in accordance with ASC 450-20. As discussed above, recoverability of funded amounts under the Company’s original product is
generally assured because of the protection of the Super Lien Amount. However, the Company did have an accrual at December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively for an
allowance for credit losses for this program of $112,027 and $124,359.
Under the New Neighbor Guaranty program (special product), the Company funds amounts in excess of the Super Lien Amount. When evaluating the carrying value of its
finance receivables, the Company looks at the likelihood of future cash flows based on historical payoffs, the fair value of the underlying real estate, the general condition of the
Association in which the unit exists, and the general economic real estate environment in the local area. The Company estimated an allowance for credit losses for this program
of $20,016 and $40,758 as of December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively under ASC 450-20 related to its New Neighbor Guaranty program.
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LM FUNDING AMERICA, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Company will charge any receivable against the allowance for credit losses when management believes the uncollectibility of the receivable is confirmed. The Company
considers writing off a receivable when (i) a first mortgage holder who names the association in a foreclosure suit takes title and satisfies an estoppel letter for amounts owed
which are less than amounts the Company funded to the association; (ii) a tax deed is issued with insufficient excess proceeds to pay amounts the Company funded to the
Association; (iii) an association settles an account for less than amounts the Company funded to theAssociation or (iv) the Association terminates its relationship with the
Company’s designated legal counsel. Upon the occurrence of any of these events, the Company evaluates the potential recovery via a deficiency judgment against the prior
owner and the ability to collect upon the deficiency judgment within the statute of limitations period or whether the deficiency judgment can be sold. If the Company determines
that collection through a deficiency judgment or sale of a deficiency judgment is not feasible, the Company writes off the unrecoverable receivable amount. Any losses greater
than the recorded allowance will be recognized as expenses. Under the Company’s revenue recognition policies, all finance receivables (original product and special product)
are classified as nonaccrual.
Real Estate Assets Owned
In the event collection of a delinquent assessment results in a unit being sold in a foreclosure auction, the Company has the right to bid (on behalf of the Association) for the
delinquent unit as attorney in fact, applying any amounts owed for the delinquent assessment to the foreclosure price as well as any additional funds that the Company, in its
sole discretion, decides to pay. If a delinquent unit becomes owned by the Association by acquiring title through an association lien foreclosure auction, by accepting a deed-inlieu of foreclosure, or by any other way, the Company in its sole discretion may direct the Association to quitclaim title of the unit to the Company.
Properties quitclaimed to the Company are in most cases acquired subject to a first mortgage or other liens, and are recognized in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets
solely at costs incurred by the Company in excess of original funding. At times, the Company will acquire properties through foreclosure actions free and clear of any mortgages
or liens. In these cases, the Company records the estimated fair value of the properties in accordance with ASC 820-10, Fair Value Measurements. Any real estate held for sale
is adjusted to fair value less the cost to dispose in the event the carrying value of a unit or property exceeds its estimated net realizable value.
The Company capitalizes costs incurred to acquire real estate owned properties and any costs incurred to get the units in a condition to be rented. These costs include, but are
not limited to, renovation/rehabilitation costs, legal costs, and delinquent taxes. These costs are depreciated over the estimated minimum time period the Company expects to
maintain possession of the units. Costs incurred for unencumbered units are depreciated over 20 years and costs for units subject to a first mortgage are depreciated over 3
years. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, capitalized real estate costs, net of accumulated depreciation, were $21,084 and $122,604, respectively. During the years ended
December 31, 2019 and 2018, depreciation expense was $21,444 and $45,577, respectively.
If the Company elects to take a quitclaim title to a unit or property held for sale, the Company is responsible to pay all future assessments on a current basis, until a change of
ownership occurs. The Association must allow the Company to lease or sell the unit to satisfy obligations for delinquent assessments of the original debt. All proceeds collected
from any sale of the unit shall be first applied to all amounts due the Company plus any additional funds paid by the Company to purchase the unit, if applicable. Rental
revenues and sales proceeds related to real estate assets held for sale are recognized when earned and realizable. Expenditures for current assessments owed to associations,
repairs and maintenance, utilities, etc. are expensed when incurred.
If the Association elects (prior to the Company obtaining title through its own election) to maintain ownership and not quitclaim title to the Company, the Association must pay
the Company all interest, late fees, collection costs, and legal fees expended, plus the original funding on the unit, which have accrued according to the purchase agreement
entered into by the community association and the Company. In this event, the unit will be reassigned to the Association.
Fixed Assets
The Company capitalizes all acquisitions of fixed assets in excess of $500. Fixed assets are stated at cost. Depreciation is provided on the straight-line method over the
estimated useful lives of the assets. Fixed assets are comprised of furniture, computer and office equipment with an assigned useful life of 3 to 5 years. Fixed assets also
includes capitalized software costs. Capitalized software costs include costs to develop software to be used solely to meet the Company’s internal needs, consist of employee
salaries and benefits and fees paid to outside consultants during the application development stage, and are amortized over their estimated useful life of 5 years. As of December
31, 2019 and 2018, capitalized software costs, net of accumulated amortization, was $nil and $21,951, respectively. Amortization expense for capitalized software costs for the
periods ended December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 was $21,951 and $23,259, respectively.
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Right to Use Assets
The Company capitalizes all leased assets pursuant to ASU 2016-02, "Leases (Topic 842)," which requires lessees to recognize right-of-use assets and lease liability, initially
measured at present value of the lease payments, on its balance sheet for leases with terms longer than 12 months and classified as either financing or operating leases. As of
December 31, 2019, right to use assets, net of accumulated amortization, was $260,260. Amortization expense for right to use assets for the twelve months ended December 31,
2019 was $51,809 while the payments totaled $45,615 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2019.
Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess purchase price of acquired businesses over the fair value of the net assets acquired. Goodwill is not amortized, but instead is tested for
impairment annually or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be fully recoverable.
During the year, the Company recorded goodwill of approximately $5.7 milion which represented amounts for the purchase of IIU. For purposes of the 2019 annual test, we will
elect to perform a goodwill impairment analysis to assess whether it was more likely than not that the fair value of these reporting units exceeded their respective carrying
values. In performing these assessments, management will relay on a number of factors including, but not limited to, macroeconomic conditions, industry and market
considerations, cost factors that would have a negative effect on earnings and cash flows, overall financial performance compared with forecasted projections in prior periods,
and other relevant reporting unit events, the impact of which are all significant judgments and estimates. This assessment was performed as of December 31, 2019 and showed
a $1.65 million impairment due to the sale of IIU on January 8, 2020. The balance of goodwill as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 was approximately $4.1 million and $0,
respectively.
Debt Issue Costs
The Company capitalizes all debt issue costs and amortizes them on a method that approximates the effective interest method over the remaining term of the note payable.The
Company did not have any unamortized debt issue costs at December 31, 2019 or 2018. The Company incurred $291,760 debt issuance costs in 2018. Any costs will be
presented in the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheets as other assets until the loan proceeds are received which at that time will be reclassified as a direct
deduction from the carrying amount of that debt liability in accordance with Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2015-03.
Debt Discount
On April 2, 2018, the Company entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement (the “SPA”) with a New York-based family office (“Investor”), which was subsequently amended,
pursuant to which the Company issued to Investor a Senior Convertible Promissory Note (the “Note”) in the original principal amount of $500,000 in exchange for a purchase
price of $500,000. The maturity date of the Note was six months after the date of issuance (subject to acceleration upon an event of default). The Note carried a 10.5% interest
rate, with accrued but unpaid interest being payable on the Note’s maturity date. Investor was also issued pursuant to the SPA five- year warrants exercisable at the closing per
share bid price on April 2, 2018 to purchase 40,000 shares of the Company’s common stock (the “Warrants”) (see Note 7. Long Term Debt).
The 40,000 warrants were valued on the grant date at approximately $3.87 per warrant or a total relative fair value of $154,676 using a Black-Scholes option pricing model with
the following assumptions: stock price of $7.40 per share (based on the quoted trading price on the date of grant), volatility of 100.6%, expected term of 5 years, and a risk-free
interest rate of 2.55%. The relative fair value of the warrants ($154,676) was treated as a debt discount that was amortized over 6 months. The amortization of the discount was
recognized as interest expense of which $154,676 was recognized for the year ended December 31, 2018. Due to the subsequent issuance of stock and warrants on October 31,
2018, these warrants now represent the right to purchase 143,587 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $1.84 per share. These warrants expire in the year 2023.
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Settlement Costs with Associations
Associations working with the Company will at times incur costs in connection with litigation initiated by the Company against property owners and or mortgage holders. These
costs include settlement agreements whereby the Association agrees to pay some monetary compensation to the opposing party or judgments against the Associations for fees of
opposing legal counsel or other damages awarded by the courts. The Company indemnifies the Association for these costs pursuant to the provisions of the agreement between
the Company and the Association. Costs incurred by the Company for these indemnification obligations for the year ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 were $68,188 and
$40,027, respectively. The Company does not limit its indemnification based on amounts ultimately collected from property owners.
Income Taxes
Income taxes are provided for the tax effects of transactions reported in the consolidated financial statements and consist of taxes currently due plus deferred taxes resulting
primarily from the tax effects of temporary differences between financial and income tax reporting. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates
expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled.
Under ASC 740-10-30-5, Income Taxes, deferred tax assets should be reduced by a valuation allowance if, based on the weight of available evidence, it is more-likely-than-not
(i.e., a likelihood of more than 50%) that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The Company considers all positive and negative evidence available
in determining the potential realization of deferred tax assets including, primarily, the recent history of taxable earnings or losses. Based on operating losses reported by the
Company during 2019 and 2018, the Company concluded there was not sufficient positive evidence to overcome this recent operating history. As a result, the Company believes
that a valuation allowance is necessary based on the more-likely-than-not threshold noted above. During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company decreased the
valuation allowance to $3,203,607 to reflect a change in deferred tax assets. During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company increased the valuation allowance to
$3,634,857 to reflect continuing losses.
Prior to the Company’s initial public offering in October 2015, the taxable earnings of the Predecessor were included in the tax returns of its members (separate limited liability
companies) and taxed depending on personal tax situations. In connection with the Company’s initial public offering, the members contributed ownership interests to the
Company (a newly form C-Corporation) and all earnings subsequent to that date (October 23, 2015) are subject to taxes and reflected in the Company’s consolidated financial
statements.
Loss Per Share
Basic loss per share is calculated as net loss to common stockholders divided by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period.
The Company issued 2,500,000 of common stock at various times during the month of November 2018 and has weighted average these new shares in calculating loss per share
for the relevant period.
On October 15, 2018, the Company effected a common share consolidation (“Reverse Stock Split”) by means of a one-for-ten (1:10) reverse split of its outstanding common
stock, par value $0.001 per share which resulted in a decrease in outstanding common stock to 625,318 shares. The Reverse Stock Split became effective, on October 16, 2018
and the Company’s common stock began trading on The Nasdaq Global Market on a split-adjusted basis on October 16, 2018.
The Company has restated all share amounts to reflect the Reverse Stock Split.
Diluted loss per share for the period equals basic loss per share as the effect of any stock based compensation awards or stock warrants would be anti-dilutive. The anti-dilutive
stock based compensation awards consisted of:
For the years ended December 31
2019
Stock Options
Stock Warrants – number of shares to purchase

2018
19,300

19,300

2,879,287

2,763,587
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Stock-Based Compensation
The Company records all equity-based incentive grants to employees and non-employee members of the Company’s Board of Directors in operating expenses in the Company’s
Consolidated Statements of Operations based on their fair values determined on the date of grant. Stock-based compensation expense, reduced for estimated forfeitures, is
recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period of the award, which is generally the vesting term of the outstanding equity awards.
Contingencies
The Company accrues for contingent obligations, including estimated legal costs, when the obligation is probable and the amount is reasonably estimable. As facts concerning
contingencies become known, the Company reassesses its position and makes appropriate adjustments to the consolidated financial statements. Estimates that are particularly
sensitive to future changes include those related to tax, legal and other regulatory matters.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
FASB ASC 825-10, Financial Instruments, requires disclosure of fair value information about financial instruments, whether or not recognized in the balance sheet. The
Company engages a third party valuation firm to assist in estimating the fair value of its finance receivables. See Note 13.
Related Party
ASC 850 - Related Party Disclosures requires disclosure of related party transactions and certain common control relationships. The Company disclosures related party
transactions and such transactions are approved by the Company’s Board of Directors. See Note 11.
Risks and Uncertainties
Funding amounts are secured by a priority lien position provided under Florida law (see discussion above regarding Florida Statute 718.116). However, in the event the first
mortgage holder takes title to the property, the amount payable by the mortgagee to satisfy the priority lien is capped under this same statute and would generally only be
sufficient to reimburse the Company for funding amounts noted above for delinquent assessments. Amounts paid by the mortgagee would not generally reimburse the Company
for interest, administrative late fees and collection costs. Even though the Company does not recognize these charges as revenues until collected, its business model and longterm viability is dependent on its ability to collect these charges.
In the event a delinquent unit owner files for bankruptcy protection, the Company may at its option be reimbursed by the Association for the amounts funded (i.e., purchase
price) and all collection rights are re-assigned to the Association.
Non-cash Financing and Investing Activities
During the year ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company acquired unencumbered title to certain properties as a result of foreclosure proceedings. Properties were
recorded at fair value less cost to dispose of approximately $0 and $0, respectively. The fair value of these properties was first applied to recover the Company’s initial
investment with any remaining proceeds applied to interest, late fees, and other amounts owed by the property owner.
During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company acquired fixed assets of $12,892 through a financing loan.
ROU Assets and Lease Obligation – for the year ended December 31, 2019 the Company acquired $331,477 of ROU lease asset and liability.
Financing of Insurance Premium – the Company financed the purchase of various insurance policies during the year ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 using a $127,000 and
$85,000, respectively using a finance agreement.
F-13

LM FUNDING AMERICA, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

New Accounting Pronouncements
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, "Leases (Topic 842)," which requires lessees to recognize right-of-use assets and lease liability, initially measured at present
value of the lease payments, on its balance sheet for leases with terms longer than 12 months and classified as either financing or operating leases. ASU 2016-02 requires a
modified retrospective transition approach for capital and operating leases existing at, or entered into after, the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented in the
financial statements, and provides certain practical expedients that companies may elect including those contained in ASU 2018-01, "Leases (Topic 842): Lease Easement
Practical Expedient for Transition to Topic 842". This ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, including interim periods within those fiscal years
with early adoption permitted. The Company adopted on January 1, 2019 and elected the package of practical expedients permitted under the transition guidance within the new
standard, which among other things, allowed the Company to carry forward the historical lease classification. The adoption of the policy did not have a cumulative impact on
retained earnings. As a result of this ASU, the Company recorded $331,477 of ROU assets and liability in 2019.
In June 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-07 " Compensation—Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Improvements to Nonemployee Share-Based Payment Accounting".
The standard simplified the accounting for share-based payments granted to nonemployees for goods and services, therefore guidance on such payments to nonemployees would
be mostly aligned with the requirements for share-based payments granted to employees. ASU 2018-07 will be effective for us beginning October 1, 2019, but early adoption is
permitted (but no earlier than the adoption date of Topic 606). This guidance is effective for us beginning January 1, 2019. Upon adoption, there was no impact to the
Company’s consolidated financial statements
Recent Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted
In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13,Financial Instruments - Credit Losses which establishes a new approach for credit impairment based on an expected loss model
rather than an incurred loss model. The standard requires the consideration of all available relevant information when estimating expected credit losses, including past events,
current conditions and forecasts and their implications for expected credit losses. The guidance is effective January 1, 2020 with a one-year early adoption permitted. We have
determined that this will not impact our consolidated financial statements at this time.
Recent accounting guidance not discussed above is not applicable, did not have, or is not expected to have a material impact to the Company.
Reclassifications
Certain prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current period presentation.
Note 2. Finance Receivables – Original Product
The Company’s original funding product provides financing to Associations only up to the secured or “Super Lien Amount” as discussed in Note 1. Finance receivables for the
original product as of December 31, based on the year of funding are approximately as follows:

Funded during the current year
1-2 years outstanding
2-3 years outstanding
3-4 years outstanding
Greater than 4 years outstanding
Total
Reserve for credit losses
Total
Number of active units with delinquent assessments
Amount of outstanding interest and late fees on
active units

$

$

$
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2019
40,000 $
15,000
20,000
11,000
300,000
386,000
(112,000 )
274,000 $
598
9,167,000

$

2018
79,000
35,000
18,000
7,000
411,000
550,000
(125,000 )
425,000
826
11,268,000
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Note 3. Finance Receivables – Special Product (New Neighbor Guaranty program)
The Company typically funds amounts equal to or less than the “Super Lien Amount”. During 2012 the Company began offering Associations an alternative product under the
New Neighbor Guaranty program where the Company funds amounts in excess of the “Super Lien Amount”.
Under this special product, the Company purchases substantially all of the outstanding past due assessments due from delinquent property owners, in addition to all interest, late
fees and other charges in exchange for the Company’s commitment to pay monthly assessments on a going forward basis up to 48 months.
As of December 31, 2019, maximum future contingent payments under these arrangements was approximately $36,000.
Delinquent assessments and accrued charges under these arrangements as of December 31, are as follows:

Finance receivables, net
Delinquent assessments
Accrued interest and late fees
Number of active units with delinquent assessments

$

2019
129,000
374,000
235,000
31

$

2018
237,000
707,000
465,000
58

Note 4. New Neighbor Guaranty Allowance for Credit Losses
Allowance for credit losses are recorded for losses that are considered “probable” and can be “reasonably estimated” in accordance with ASC 450-20. Recoverability of the
Company’s original product is generally assured because of the protection of the Super Lien amountunder Florida statute and as such no allowance is recorded.
Credit losses on the New Neighbor Guaranty product were estimated by the Company and had a remaining balance of approximately $20,000 and $41,000 as of December 31,
2019 and 2018, respectively.
Note 5. Real Estate Assets Owned
Real estate assets owned as reported in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets consist of the fair market value less cost to dispose for those foreclosed units acquired free
and clear of any mortgage or other liens plus costs incurred by the Company in excess of original funding on units. Real estate assets owned (free and clear of any mortgage) at
December 31, 2019, and 2018, were approximately $21,100 and $122,600 respectively, consisting of one and one units respectively, at these dates. The Company acquired
none and none new unencumbered units, net of disposals during 2019 and 2018 that were capitalized at fair value less cost to dispose of approximately $0 and $0,
respectively. The fair market value of each unit was first applied to recover the Company’s investment with any remaining proceeds applied next to interest, late fees, legal fees,
collection costs, and payable to the association. Any excess proceeds still remaining were recognized as a gain.
Most units are quitclaimed to the Company without the Company incurring additional cost and are subject to mortgage. Total units within the real estate portfolio at December
31, 2019 and 2018 as a result of foreclosure action were, including those discussed above, 20 and 20, respectively. During 2019 and 2018, the Company sold twenty-three and
twenty-seven units, respectively, and realized proceeds of approximately $190,000 and $196,000, respectively. Any proceeds collected are first applied to recover the
Company’s investment with any remaining proceeds applied next to interest, late fees, legal fees, collection costs and any amounts due to the community association. Any
excess proceeds still remaining are recognized as gain on sale of real estate assets. If the future proceeds collected are lower than the Company’s carrying value, then a loss is
recognized on the sale. There was no significant gain or loss on the disposal of real estate assets during 2019 or 2018. Rental revenues collected in 2019 and 2018 were
approximately $227,000 (net of cost recovery of $0) and $513,000, respectively (net of cost recovery of $10,000).
As mentioned above, upon a unit being quitclaim deeded to the Company, the Company becomes responsible for current association assessments. The monthly contingent
obligation for assessments due on these units to associations as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 approximates $7,000 and $9,000, respectively.
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Note 6. Goodwill and Acquisition
On November 2, 2018, the Company invested cash by purchasing a Securities Purchase Agreement (the “IIU SPA”) from IIU Inc. (“IIU”), a synergistic Virginia based travel
insurance brokerage company controlled by Craven House N.A. (whose ownership excluding unexercised warrants is approximately 20% of the Company’s outstanding stock
as of the date of acquisition), pursuant to which IIU issued to the Company a Senior Convertible Promissory Note (“IIU Note”) in the original principal amount of $1,500,000 in
exchange for a purchase price of $1,500,000. The maturity date of the Note is 360 dates after the date of issuance (subject to acceleration upon an event of default). The Note
carries a 3.0% interest rate, with accrued but unpaid interest being payable on the Note’s maturity date.
The IIU Note allows the Company the right on or after the maturity date to convert any unpaid principal and accrued and unpaid interest of the IIU Note into shares of IIU based
on a conversion amount which is the fair value of the common shares of IIU at the time. The conversion price will be reset if IIU issues or sells common shares, convertibles
securities or options at a price per share that is less than the conversion price in effect immediately prior to such issue or sale or deemed issuance or sale of such dilutive
issuance.
On January 16, 2019, the Company entered into a Stock Purchase Agreement with Craven House North America, LLC (“Craven”) to purchase all of the shares of IIU as a
possible synergistic effort to diversify revenue sources that are believed to be accretive to earnings. IIU provides global medical insurance products for international travelers,
specializing in policies covering high-risk destinations, emerging markets and foreign travelers coming to the United States. All policies are fully underwritten with no claim
risk remaining with IIU.
The Board of Directors of LMFA approved the purchase of IIU. LMFA purchased 100% of the outstanding stock of IIU for $5,089,357. LMFA paid the Purchase Price at
closing as follows:
•
•

•

Cancellation by LMFA of all principal and accrued interest of IIU’s Promissory Note dated November 3, 2018 and issued to LMFA for principal indebtedness and
accrued interest of $1,507,375.
LMFA issued to Craven a $3,581,982 Convertible Promissory Note (“Craven note”) for the balance of the Purchase Price. At the option of Craven, the
Convertible Note may be paid in restricted common shares of LMFA or cash. The Convertible Note shall bear simple interest at 3% per annum. The Convertible
Note shall be due and payable 360 days from the Closing Date. If repaid by LMFA in restricted common stock, the outstanding principal and interest of the
Convertible Note shall be paid by LMFA by issuing to Seller a number of restricted common shares equal to the adjusted principal and accrued interest owing on
the Convertible Note divided by $2.41. The note principal was subsequently reduced by $120,200 arising from lower than expected Closing Cash and Net Working
Capital. Craven had verbally agreed to extend repayment of this Convertible Promissory Note 12 months from April 15, 2019.
Net cash received in the business acquisition was $51,327.

As such, the $1.5 million note receivable was cancelled as of January 16, 2019.
The following table summarizes the approximate consideration paid and the amounts of the identified assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date:
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January 16, 2019

Total adjusted purchase price
Recognized preliminary amounts of identifiable assets acquired and
(liabilities assumed), at fair value:
Cash
Prepaid and other current assets
Profit on purchased policies
Property, plant and equipment
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses and other liabilities
Income taxes
Deferred revenue
Debt
Preliminary estimate of the fair value of assets and liabilities assumed

$

Goodwill

$

4,969,200

51,300
5,200
14,600
17,100
(5,100 )
(62,686 )
(28,500 )
(9,300 )
(703,000 )
(720,386 )
5,689,586

We performed an assessment effective as of December 31, 2019 in light of the Company’s sale of IIU on January 8, 2020 which resulted in a $1.65 million goodwill
impairment.
The accompanying unaudited pro forma statements of operations presents the accounts of LM Funding and IIU for the twelve - months ended December 31, 2019 and 2018,
assuming the acquisition occurred on January 1, 2018:

Revenues:
Net revenue
Operating Expenses:
Operating loss
Gain on disposal of assets
Other income
Gain on litigation
Investment income
Interest expense
Loss before income taxes
Income tax expense
Net loss

$

Net loss per common share:
Basic
Diluted
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding:
Basic
Diluted

$

2019

2018

3,039,956
3,039,956

4,058,363
4,058,363

5,907,644
(2,867,688 )

4,254,141
(195,778 )

(6,421 )
142,161
(3,003,428 )
274
(3,003,702 ) $

(23,217 )
(405,000 )
(34,219 )
496,594
(229,936 )
28,426
(258,362 )

(0.96 ) $
(0.96 )

(0.26 )
(0.26 )

3,133,689
3,133,689

996,710
996,710

IIU generated $639,815 of net commission revenue from January 16, 2019 to December 31, 2019 and $386,968 of operating expenses plus $39,522 of interest expense.
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Note 7. Long-Term Debt and Other Financing Arrangements
Year ended December 31,
2019
2018
Financing agreement with FlatIron capital that is unsecured. Down payment of $28,125 was required upfront and
equal installment payments of $8,701 to be made over a 10 month period. The note matured on May 31, 2019.
Annualized interest is 5.99%

$

-

Financing agreement with FlatIron capital that is unsecured. Down payment of $19,170 was required upfront and
equal installment payments of $11,590 to be made over a 11 month period. The note matures on June 1, 2020.
Annualized interest is 6.8%
Senior secured convertible note to Craven House Capital North America LLC (Related Party), bearing interest at
3.0%. Note was issued on January 16, 2019 and either matured on either January 14, 2020 or became convertible
into 1,436,424 shares of the Company's common stock. The value of the beneficial conversion feature as of January
16, 2019 was zero.*
Promissory note issued by a financial institution, bearing interest at 9.09%, interest and principal payments due
monthly of $323. Note is secured by an automobile and was issued on July 26, 2019 with original borrowings of
$12,892. The note matures on August 26, 2023.
Promissory note issued by a financial institution, bearing interest at 5.85%, interest and principal payments due
monthly of $10,932. Note was issued on May 31, 2018 with original borrowings of $608,000 and subsequent
borrowings of $141,000 and repayments of $51,000. The note matures on May 30, 2025 and can be prepaid at any
time without penalty. This note is secured by the Company’s inventory, chattel paper, accounts, equipment and
general intangible intangibles and deposit accounts.

$

42,875

69,540

-

3,461,782

-

11,802

-

606,454
$

4,149,578

$

42,875

*The $3.5 million convertible note was forgiven in connection with Craven’s repurchase of IIU on January 8, 2020 pursuant to the terms of the Craven SPA.
On October 5, 2018, the Company exercised its right to terminate the Purchase Agreement originally entered into on April 2, 2018 with the Investor. The Company also repaid
the $500,000 note and accrued interest on October 5, 2018. The Company paid the $200,000 Commitment Fee on November 2, 2018.
Minimum required principal payments on the Company’s debt as of December 31, 2019 are as follows :
Years Ending
December 31,
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
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3,631,994
107,013
113,648
119,090
177,833

$

4,149,578
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Note 8. Commitments and Contingencies
Leases
The Company leases certain office space, construction and office equipment, vehicles and temporary housing generally under non-cancelable operating leases. Leases with an
initial term of one year or less are not recorded on the balance sheet, and the Company generally recognizes lease expense for these leases on a straight-line basis over the lease
term. As of December 31, 2019, the Company’s operating leases have remaining lease terms ranging from less than one year to 3 years, some of which include options to
renew the leases. The exercise of lease renewal options is generally at the Company’s sole discretion. The Company’s leases do not contain any material residual value
guarantees or material restrictive covenants.
The Company determines if an arrangement is a lease at inception. Operating lease ROU assets and current and long-term operating lease liabilities are separately stated on the
Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2019. ROU assets represent the Company’s right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and lease liabilities represent the
Company’s obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease. ROU assets and lease liabilities are recognized at the commencement date based on the present value of
lease payments over the lease term. The present value of future lease payments are discounted using either the implicit rate in the lease, if known, or the Company’s incremental
borrowing rate for the specific lease as of the lease commencement date. The rate was determined as a fair value of the lease over a 37 month period using a 6.5% interest rate
for the present value calculation. The ROU asset is also adjusted for any prepayments made or incentives received. The lease terms include options to extend or terminate the
lease only to the extent it is reasonably certain any of those options will be exercised. Lease expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The Company
accounts for lease components (e.g., fixed payments) separate from the non-lease components (e.g., common-area maintenance costs). The Company does not have any material
financing leases.
The Company leased its office under an operating lease beginning March 1, 2014 and ending July 31, 2019. The Company’s new office lease began July 15, 2019 and ends July
31, 2022. It also has a month to month lease for its IIU operations. A related party has a sub-lease for approximately $4,900 per month plus operating expenses.
The Company shares this space and the related costs associated with this operating lease with a related party (see Note 11) that also performs legal services associated with the
collection of delinquent assessments. The Company entered into a sub-lease with an unrelated party but we stopped receiving such sub-lease rental income in September 2018.
Net rent expense recognized for the twelve months ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 were approximated $186,609 and $108,000, respectively.
The following table presents supplemental balance sheet information related to operating leases as of December 31, 2019:
Balance Sheet Line Item
Assets
ROU assets
Total lease assets

Right of use asset, net

Liabilities
Current lease liabilities
Long-term lease liabilities
Total lease liabilities

Lease liability
Lease liability

2019
$
$

260,260
260,260

$

94,235
171,648
265,883

$

Weighted-average remaining lease term (in years)
2.6
Weighted-average discount rate
6.55 %
The following table presents supplemental cash flow information and non-cash activity related to operating leases for the twelve months ended December 31, 2019:
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Operating Leases
Operating cash flow information
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease
liabilities
Non-cash activity:
ROU assets obtained in exchange for lease liabilities (lease
cancelled)
ROU assets obtained in exchange for lease liabilities
Total ROU assets obtained in exchange for lease liabilities

$

44,765

26,685
304,792
331,477

The following table presents maturities of operating lease liabilities on an undiscounted basis as of December 31, 2019:
Operating Leases
2020
2021
2022

94,235
103,646
68,002
265,883

Legal Proceedings
Other than the lawsuits described below, we are not currently a party to material litigation proceedings. However, we frequently become party to litigation in the ordinary course
of business, including either the prosecution or defense of claims arising from contracts by and between us and client Associations. Regardless of the outcome, litigation can
have an adverse impact on us because of prosecution, defense, and settlement costs, diversion of management resources and other factors.
The Company accrues for contingent obligations, including estimated legal costs, when the obligation is probable and the amount is reasonably estimable. As facts concerning
contingencies become known, the Company reassesses its position and makes appropriate adjustments to the consolidated financial statements. Estimates that are particularly
sensitive to future changes include those related to tax, legal, and other regulatory matters.
We were a defendant in an action entitled Solaris at Brickell Bay Condominium Association, Inc. v. LM Funding, LLC, which was brought before the Circuit Court of the
Eleventh Judicial Circuit, Miami-Dade Civil Division on July 31, 2014. In this matter, which was initially preliminarily settled in August 2017, the plaintiff (an association
under contract with us) alleged claims such as a usurious loan transaction, state and federal civil Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organization Act claims, Florida Deceptive
and Unfair Trade Practices Act (“FDUTPA”) violations, and other related claims, and the plaintiff requested rescission of their agreement with us, forfeiture of all amounts lent
by us to the plaintiff, a declaratory judgment that we have violated FDUTPA, other damages for breach of contract and violations of FDUTPA, and attorneys’ fees. On August
4, 2017, an order by the court was entered on Plaintiff’s Motion for Preliminary Approval of Class Action Settlement Agreement. In the order, the motion of the Plaintiff,
Solaris at Brickell Bay Condominium Association, Inc., individually and on behalf of the certified plaintiff class (“Plaintiffs”), for approval of the Class Action Settlement
Agreement (the “Settlement Agreement”) with Defendant LM Funding, LLC was granted. Despite our belief that we are not liable for the claims asserted and that we have good
defenses thereto, we nevertheless agreed to enter into the Settlement Agreement in order to: (1) avoid any further expense, inconvenience, and distraction of burdensome and
protracted litigation and its consequential negative financial effects to our operations; (2) obtain the releases, orders, and final judgment contemplated by the Settlement
Agreement; and (3) put to rest and terminate with finality all claims that had been or could have been asserted against us by the Plaintiffs arising from the facts alleged in the
lawsuit. Pursuant to the agreement subsequently reached between counsel, all required actions and deadlines set forth in the Settlement Agreement are currently stayed. On
March 1, 2018 a continuation of the abatement was granted until April 2, 2018. As of December 31, 2017, the Company had accrued costs of $505,000 as part of the Settlement
Agreement. The settlement amount was contingent upon the Company obtaining sufficient financing within the allotted timeframe of the Settlement Agreement. On April 2,
2018, the Plaintiffs withdrew from the Settlement Agreement. On August 14, 2018, the parties to the Solaris class action litigation entered into a revised settlement in which the
Plaintiffs amended their
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complaint (the Fourth Amended Complaint) to reflect no demand for damages and only a claim for declarative andinjunctive relief and amended the class definition to reflect a
requirement that class members must have active units still under contract with LMF under a “Traditional Model” waterfall in the Allocation of Collection Proceeds. This was
submitted to the court who approved the amended Complaint and Class Action Settlement Agreement. On November 6, 2018, the court entered an order granting Plaintiff’s
Motion for Final Approval of Class Action Settlement. The New Settlement Agreement also reimbursed the Plaintiff’s opposing counsel $99,000 plus an administrative fee.
As such, during the fiscal year 2018 the Company adjusted the class action accrual to $100,000 and recorded a $405,000 gain to other income to the statement of operations.
The amount was paid during fiscal year 2018.
Note 9. Income Taxes
Prior to the Company’s initial public offering in October 2015, the earnings of the Predecessor, which was a limited liability company taxed as a partnership, were taxable to its
members. In connection with the contribution of membership interests to the Company (a C-Corporation formed in 2015), the net income or loss of the Company after the
initial public offering is taxable to the Company and reflected in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
The Company performs an evaluation of the realizability of its deferred tax assets on a quarterly basis. The Company considers all positive and negative evidence available in
determining the potential of realizing deferred tax assets, including the scheduled reversal of temporary differences, recent and projected future taxable income and prudent and
feasible tax planning strategies. The estimates and assumptions used by the Company in computing the income taxes reflected in the accompanying consolidated financial
statements could differ from the actual results reflected in the income tax returns filed during the subsequent year. Adjustments are recorded based on filed returns when
finalized or the related adjustments are identified.
Under ASC 740-10-30-5, Income Taxes, deferred tax assets should be reduced by a valuation allowance if, based on the weight of available evidence, it is more-likely-than-not
(i.e., a likelihood of more than 50%) that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The Company considers all positive and negative evidence available
in determining the potential realization of deferred tax assets including, primarily, the recent history of taxable earnings or losses. Based on operating losses reported by the
Company during 2019 and 2018, the Company concluded there was not sufficient positive evidence to overcome this recent operating history. As a result, the Company believes
that a valuation allowance is necessary based on the more-likely-than-not threshold noted above. The Company recorded a valuation allowance of approximately of $3,204,000
during the year ended December 31, 2018 equal to its deferred tax asset as of December 31, 2018 and increased the valuation allowance to $3,635,000 during the year ended
December 31, 2019.
Significant components of the tax expense (benefit) recognized in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2019 and
December 31, 2018) are as follows:
Year Ended
December 31,
2019
Current tax benefit
Federal
State
Total current tax benefit
Deferred tax expense
Valuation allowance (expense)
Income tax (reduction) benefit

$

$
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Year Ended
December 31,
2018

(426,931 ) $
(88,334 )
(515,265 )
84,015
431,250
- $

(222,603 )
(46,058 )
(268,661 )
685,416
(416,755 )
-
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The reconciliation of the income tax computed at the combined federal and state statutory rate of 25.3% for the year endedDecember 31, 2019 and 25.3% for the year ended
December 31, 2018 to the income tax benefit is as follows:

Benefit on net loss
Nondeductible expenses
Valuation allowance (expense)
Other items
Tax benefit/effective rate

Year Ended December
Year Ended December 31,
31,
2019
2019
2018
2018
$ (849,700 )
28.3 % $ 413,361
(87.5 )%
418,450
-13.9 %
3,394
(0.7 )%
431,250
(14.4 )%
(416,755 )
88.2 %
0.0 %
0.0 %
$
0.0 % $
0.0 %

The significant components of the Company’s deferred tax liabilities and assets as of December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 are as follows:
As of December 31,
2019
2018
Deferred tax liabilities:
Tax expense for internally developed software
Tax depreciation in excess of book
Total deferred tax liabilities
Deferred tax assets:
Loss carryforwards
Step up in basis at contribution to C-Corp
Stock option expense
Step up in basis - purchase of non-controlling interest
Allowance for credit losses
Accrued liabilities
Total deferred tax asset
Valuation allowance
Net deferred tax asset

$

$

4,081
1,029
5,110

$

2,759,806
682,231
89,295
54,597
33,466
20,572
3,639,967
(3,634,857 )
- $

9,976
4,975
14,951
2,156,428
853,410
87,056
59,243
41,849
20,572
3,218,558
(3,203,607 )
-

As discussed above, the Predecessor effected a transaction resulting in the contribution of member interests to the Company (a newly formed C-Corporation). This transaction
was recorded at the carryover basis of the Predecessor for both tax and financial reporting purposes. In accordance with ASC 740-10-45-19, Income Taxes, the Company
accounted for the tax effect of the difference in tax basis and book basis assets and liabilities at contribution date as a direct consequence of a change in tax status. As such, the
Company recognized a net deferred tax asset for the tax effect of those basis differences equal to $91,068 with a corresponding increase in tax benefit. As a result of various
equity transactions prior to the incorporation, the former members of the Predecessor recognized taxable gains associated with redemption consideration and/or deficit capital
accounts totaling approximately $5.25 million. In accordance with ASC 740-20-45-11, the Company accounted for the tax effect of the step up in income tax basis related to
these transactions with or among shareholders and recognized a deferred tax asset and corresponding increase in equity of approximately $1.97 million. Federal net operating
loss carryforwards of approximately $512,000 related to 2015, $3,850,000 related to 2016, $2,977,000 related to 2017, $1,408,000 related to 2018, and $2,033,000 related to
2019 will expire in 2035, 2036, 2037, respectively and net operating loss generated after January 1, 2018 will not expire. The Company's federal and state tax returns for the
2016 through 2019 tax years generally remain subject to examination by U.S. and various state authorities.
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Note 10. Stockholders’ Equity
Stock Issuance
Fiscal Year 2019
During the twelve months ended December 31, 2019, warrants for 9,300 shares were exercised for $22,320.
Fiscal Year 2018
On October 15, 2018, the Company effected ( the “Reverse Stock Split”) a one-for-ten (1:10) reverse split of its outstanding common stock, par value $0.001 per share which
resulted in a decrease in outstanding common stock to 625,318 shares. The Reverse Stock Split became effective, on October 16, 2018 and the Company’s common stock
began trading on The Nasdaq Global Market on a split-adjusted basis on October 16, 2018. This reduced the number of outstanding shares of the Company’s common stock
from 6,253,189 down to 625,318 resulted in a treasury share buyback of 357 shares for $1,894 in connection with the purchase of fractional shares.
The Company has restated all share amounts to reflect the Reverse Stock Split.
On October 31, 2018, the Company issued 2,500,000 shares of common stock for net proceeds of $5.2 million after offering costs of $0.2 million.
Stock Warrants
The following is a summary of the stock warrant plan activity during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018:
2019

Number of
Warrants
Warrants Outstanding at Beginning of the year

2018
Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Number of
Warrants

3,843,587

$5.53

1,200,000

$12.50

125,000

2.64

2,643,587

2.37

9,300

2.40

-

-

Adjustment

-

-

-

-

Forfeited

-

-

-

-

3,959,287

$5.45

3,843,587

$5.53

Granted
Exercised

Warrants Outstanding and Exercisable at End of Year

As part of its initial public offering, on October 23, 2015 the Company issued 1,200,000 warrants that allowed for the right to purchase 1,200,000 shares of common stock at an
average exercise price of $12.50 per share. Due to the Reverse Stock Split on October 16, 2018, each warrant may only purchase one-tenth of one share of common stock at
$12.50. These warrants have weighted average price of $12.50 per share and a weighted average remaining life of .94 years and 1.81 years as of December 31, 2019 and 2018,
respectively. These warrants expire in the year 2020. The aggregate intrinsic value of the outstanding common stock warrants as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 was $0 and $0
respectively.
On October 31, 2018, the Company issued warrants as part of its secondary offering that allowed for the right to purchase 2,500,000 shares of common stock at an exercise
price of $2.40 per share. These warrants have average remaining life of 3.8 years as of December 31, 2019. These warrants expire in the year 2023. During the twelve months
ended December 31, 2019, warrants for 9,300 shares were exercised for $22,320, respectively.
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On April 2, 2018, the Company issued warrants that allowed for the right to purchase 40,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $6.605 per share.If at any time
these warrants are outstanding, the Company combines its outstanding shares of common stock into a smaller number of shares or enters into a corporate action or transaction to
change the number of outstanding shares of common stock, then the exercise price will be adjusted along with the number of shares that can be purchased under this agreement.
Due to the subsequent issuance of stock and warrants on October 31, 2018, these warrants now represent the right to purchase 143,587 shares of common stock at an exercise
price of $1.84 per share. These warrants have an average remaining life of 3.25 years as of December 31, 2019. These warrants expire in the year 2023.
As part of its underwriting agreement dated,October 31, 2018, the Company issued additional warrants, effective May 1, 2019, to its underwriter as part of its secondary
offering that allowed for the right to purchase 125,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $2.64 per share on or after May 1, 2019. These warrants expire on May 2,
2022.
Stock Options
The 2015 Omnibus Incentive Plan provides for the issuance of stock options, stock appreciation rights, performance shares, performance units, restricted stock, restricted stock
units, shares of our common stock, dividend equivalent units, incentive cash awards or other awards based on our common stock. Awards may be granted alone or in addition
to, in tandem with, or (subject to the 2015 Omnibus Incentive Plan’s prohibitions on repricing) in substitution for any other award (or any other award granted under another
plan of ours or of any of our affiliates).
On May 29, 2018 the Company granted a total of 10,000 stock options to an employee at an exercise price of $10.00 per share. These awards will vest evenly over a three year
period. The maximum term of an option is 10 years from the date of grant. The grant date fair value of the options was $4.68. Total expense to be recognized after adjusting
for forfeitures for the employee options is approximately $35,000.
The Black-Scholes pricing model was used to determine the fair value of the stock options granted by the Company. The Company recognizes this value as an expense over the
period in which the stock options vest. There were no awards in fiscal year 2019. The weighted average grant date fair value of the options granted was $4.68 for awards
granted in the years ended December 31, 2018. Compensation expense recognized from the vesting of stock options was approximately $9,000 of which $9,000 was for options
issued prior to 2019 and $25,000 of which $18,800 was for options issued prior to 2018, respectively for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018. The remaining
unrecognized compensation cost associated with unvested stock options as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 is approximately $18,000 and $32,000, respectively. At December
31, 2019 and 2018, the stock options had a remaining life of approximately 6 and 7 years, respectively.
The aggregate intrinsic value of the outstanding common stock options as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 was $0 and $0 respectively.
The Black-Scholes option-pricing model was developed for use in estimating the fair value of traded options that have no vesting restrictions. The model requires the use of
subjective assumptions. Expected volatility was based on the historical volatility of another public company with a similar business model and comparable market share as the
Company. The expected life (in years) was determined using historical data to estimate options exercise patterns. The Company does not expect to pay any dividends for the
foreseeable future thus a value of zero was used in the calculation. The risk-free interest rate was based on the rate for US Treasury bonds commensurate with the expected term
of the granted options. Significant assumptions used in the option-pricing model to fair value options granted were as follows:
2018

Risk-free rate
Expected life
Expected volatility
Expected dividend

2.65 %
6 years
108.00 %
—
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The following is a summary of the stock option plan activity duringthe years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018:
2019
Number of
Options
Options Outstanding at Beginning of the year

19,300

2018
Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

$

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Number of
Options

57.91

11,290

$

111.07

Granted

-

-

10,000

Exercised

-

-

-

10.00
-

Adjustment

-

-

1,010

125.00

Forfeited

-

-

(3,000 )

120.83

Options Outstanding at End of Year

19,300

$

60.51

19,300

$

57.91

Options Exercisable at End of Year

11,800

$

84.49

6,630

$

105.68

Note 11. Related Party Transactions
Legal services for the Company associated with the collection of delinquent assessments from property owners are performed by a law firm (Business Law Group “BLG”)
which was owned solely by Bruce M. Rodgers, the Chief Executive Officer of the Company until and through the date of its initial public offering. Following the initial public
offering, Mr. Rodgers transferred his interest in BLG to other attorneys at the firm through a redemption of his interest in the firm, and BLG is now under control of those
lawyers. The law firm has historically performed collection work primarily on a deferred billing basis wherein the law firm receives payment for services rendered upon
collection from the property owners or at amounts ultimately subject to negotiations with the Company.
Under the agreement, the Company pays BLG a fixed monthly fee of $82,000 per month for services rendered. The Company will continue to pay BLG a minimum per unit fee
of $700 in any case where there is a collection event and BLG receives no payment from the property owner. This provision has been expanded to also include any unit where
the Company has taken title to the unit or where the Association has terminated its contract with either BLG or the Company.
Amounts collected from property owners and paid to BLG for 2019 and 2018 were approximately $1,052,000 and $984,000, respectively. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018,
receivables from property owners for charges ultimately payable to BLG were approximately $1,883,000 and $2,753,000, respectively.
Under the related party agreement with BLG in effect during 2019 and 2018, the Company pays all costs (lien filing fees, process and serve costs) incurred in connection with
the collection of amounts due from property owners. Any recovery of these collection costs are accounted for as a reduction in expense incurred. The Company incurred
expenses related to these types of costs of $203,000 and $297,000, during 2019 and 2018, respectively. Recoveries during 2019 and 2018 related to those costs were
approximately $221,000 and $278,000, respectively.
The Company also shares office space and related common expenses with BLG. All shared expenses, including rent, are charged to BLG based on an estimate of actual
usage. Any expenses of BLG paid by the Company that have not been reimbursed or settled against other amounts are reflected as due from related parties in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheet.
The Company assessed the collectability of the amount due from BLG and concluded that even though BLG had repaid $252,771 during 2017, it did not have the ability to
repay the remaining balance at the end of 2017 and as such took a reserve of approximately $1.4 million for the balance due as of December 31, 2017. In 2019, the Company
subsequently recouped $190,000 of this write-off. Amounts receivable from BLG as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 were approximately $152,800 and $25,500, respectively.
LMF has engaged BLG on behalf of many of its Association clients to service and collect the Accounts and to distribute the proceeds as required by Florida law and the
provisions of the purchase agreements between LMF and the Associations. In addition, Ms. Gould entered an employment agreement to work part-time for LMF. Ms. Gould’s
employment agreement with LMF permits her to also work as General Manager of BLG which pays her additional compensation of $150,000 per year.
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Consulting Services
One of our directors, Martin A. Traber, is Chairman at Skyway Capital Markets which billed us in total $125,000 for a fairness opinion ($15,000 in 2018 and $110,000 in
2019) and $25,000 in 2019 for a future fairness opinion, the total of which represents less than 1% of Skyway Capital Markets annual revenue. We believe that such services
were performed on term at least as favorable to us as those that would have been realized in transactions with unaffiliated entities or individuals.
The Company advanced Craven $27,738 and anticipates it will be settled in 2020.
Note 12. Investment in Note Receivable – Related Party
On November 2, 2018, the Company entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement with IIU, pursuant to which IIU issued to the Company a Senior Convertible Promissory
Note (the “IIU Note”) in the original principal amount of $1,500,000 in exchange for a purchase price of $1,500,000. The maturity date of the IIU Note was 360 days after the
date of issuance (subject to acceleration upon an event of default). The IIU Note carried a 3.0% interest rate, with accrued but unpaid interest being payable on the IIU Note’s
maturity date.
The IIU Note allowed the Company the right on or after the maturity date to convert any unpaid principal and accrued and unpaid interest of the IIU Note into shares of IIU
based on a conversion amount which is the fair value of the common shares of IIU at the time. The Company subsequently purchased 100% of the issued and outstanding
capital stock of IIU on January 16, 2019 for $5,089,357.
On December 20, 2019, the Company loaned $1.5 million to Craven in the form of a secured promissory note (the “Craven Secured Promissory Note”) which had an initial
maturity date of April 15, 2020 and carried an interest rate of 0.5% that is to be paid monthly. The Company subsequently extended the due date of the Craven Secured
Promissory Note and the monthly interest payments to August 1, 2021. The Craven Secured Promissory Note is secured by, among other things, stock pledge of Craven’s
640,000 common stock of the Company and the assignment of the assets of Craven in favor of the Company.
Note 13. Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The Company estimates that the fair value of its financial assets and liabilities approximate carrying value except for its finance receivables. FASB ASC 820, Fair Value
Measurements and Disclosures defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants on the measurement date. ASC 820 also establishes a fair value hierarchy which requires an entity to classify its fair value estimates based on the “Level” of
reliability of data inputs used in those estimates. Under this guidance, financial instruments are categorized within the fair value hierarchy as follows:
Level 1 inputs – Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that can be assessed at the measurement date.
Level 2 inputs – Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.
Level 3 inputs – Unobservable inputs significant to the fair value estimate that are supported by little or no market pricing and are based on the Company’s estimates and
assumptions that presumably market participants would use.
The Company considers the data inputs used to estimate the fair value of its finance receivables to fall within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. Fair value measurements as
noted below are based on the income approach using a discount rate of 7.55% and 8.65% for finance receivables at December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The recovery
period as of both dates was assumed to be 10 years and 8.5 years at December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The carrying amount and estimated fair value of finance
receivables at December 31 2019 and 2018 are as follows:
2019
Carrying
Amount
Finance receivables:
Original product
Special product, net of allowance (1)
(1)

$

New Neighbor Guaranty program
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274,000
129,000

2018
Fair
Value

$

2,995,000
300,000

Carrying
Amount
$

425,000
237,000

Fair
Value
$

4,005,000
543,000
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Note 14 Going Concern
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going concern, which contemplates realization of assets
and the satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of business within one year after the date the consolidated financial statements are issued. In accordance with Financial
Accounting Standards Board, or the FASB, Accounting Standards Update No. 2014-15, Presentation of Financial Statements - Going Concern (Subtopic 205-40), our
management evaluates whether there are conditions or events, considered in aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern within one
year after the date that the financial statements are issued, no adjustments to the financial statements have been made to account for this uncertainty.
The Company has experienced significant operating losses over the past 4 years (2016 through 2019) with cumulative losses of approximately $14,495,000 and negative
cashflows from operations. These losses resulted in the usage of all cash proceeds from the Company’s initial public offering in 2015. These factors raise substantial doubt
about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
On January 8, 2020, the Company settled the $3,461,782 note with $100,787 accrued interest owed to Craven by exchanging the note and accrued interest for ownership of IIU,
Inc. On March 23, 2020, the Company’s entered into a merger agreement (See Note 15) which resulted in a $1.25 million cash infusion into the Company. We plan to expand
our operations and increase profits as a result of the merger agreement which is in the due diligence period and has a termination period of 8 months from the date of the
agreement with an extension period not to extend past March 2021.
However, we may not have enough cash to satisfy our estimated liquidity needs for the 12 months from the issuance of these financial statements. We cannot state with
certainty that the Hanfor merger will close and depending upon the circumstances under which the merger would be terminated, we may not have sufficient liquidity to meet the
obligations of the company.
Note 15. Subsequent Events
On January 8, 2020, the Company entered into a Stock Purchase Agreement with Craven pursuant to which the Company sold to Craven all of the issued and outstanding shares
of IIU for $3,562,569. The purchase price was paid by Craven through the cancellation of the $3,461,782 Convertible Promissory Note issued by LMFA to Craven dated
January 16, 2019 plus forgiveness of $100,787 of accrued interest. LMFA originally paid $4,969,200 for the purchase of IIU in January 2019, which included a negative
$720,386 net fair value of assets and $5,689,586 of goodwill.
On March 23, 2020, the Company entered into a Share Exchange Agreement, dated March 23, 2020 (the “Share Exchange Agreement”), withHanfor (Cayman) Limited, a
Cayman Islands exempted company (“Hanfor”), and BZ Industrial Limited, a British Virgin Islands business company and the sole stockholder of Hanfor (“Hanfor
Owner”). The Share Exchange Agreement provides for a business combination transaction in which Hanfor Owner will transfer and assign to the Company all of the share
capital of Hanfor in exchange for a number of shares of the Company’s common stock that will result in Hanfor Owner owning 86.5% of the outstanding common stock of the
Company Exchange Transaction. Upon the closing of the Hanfor Exchange Transaction, Hanfor will become a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company.
The parties’ respective obligations to complete the Hanfor Exchange Transaction are subject to various closing conditions. The conditions to the Company’s obligation to
complete the Hanfor Exchange Transaction will include approval of the Hanfor Exchange Transaction by the Company’s stockholders at a duly called stockholder meeting; the
receipt of a fairness opinion by the Company’s board of directors for the Exchange Transaction; the absence of a material adverse change in the business, assets, or operations of
Hanfor; the exercise of outstanding warrants to purchase at least 729,167 shares of Company common stock (or the Hanfor Owner purchase of shares in a private placement in
lieu thereof); and various customary closing conditions. The conditions to the Hanfor Owner’s and Hanfor’s obligation to complete the Hanfor Exchange Transaction will
include the continued listing of the Company’s common stock on the Nasdaq Stock Market ; the absence of a material adverse change in the business, assets, or operations of
the Company; and other customary closing conditions. In addition to the foregoing, the Hanfor Share Exchange Agreement contains other customary and negotiated
representations, warranties, and covenants, including a covenant not to solicit alternative transactions. Under the agreement, Hanfor Owner is required to deliver to the
Company audited financial statements for Hanfor for the 2019 and 2018 fiscal years, with such audited financial statements required to be delivered by May 31, 2020 (subject to
extension to June 30, 2020 under specified circumstances). The Company expects to file a preliminary proxy statement relating to the Hanfor Share Exchange Transaction as
soon as practicable following the receipt of such financial statements.
F-27

LM FUNDING AMERICA, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
In connection with the execution of the Share Exchange Agreement, the Company and Hanfor Owner entered into a Stock Purchase Agreement, dated March 23, 2020,
pursuant to which Hanfor Owner agreed purchased from Company an aggregate of 520,833 shares of the Company’s common stock at a price of $2.40 per share (the “Stock
Purchase Agreement”).
The Share Exchange Agreement provides that, within 5 days of the purchase by Hanfor Owner of all 520,833 shares under the Stock Purchase Agreement, Hanfor Owner may
appoint a member to the Company’s board of directors, provided that such director designee of Hanfor Owner shall be reasonably satisfactory to the board of directors. The
Share Exchange Agreement also contains a provision that permits Hanfor Owner to restructure the transaction by adding or substituting assets in the event that Company
stockholder approval is not obtained or cannot be obtained due to reasons relating to the SEC, the Nasdaq Stock Market, or other reasons.
The Share Exchange Agreement provides that the parties will have specified termination rights, and further provides that, upon termination of the Share Exchange Agreement
under specified circumstances, the Company may be required to pay Hanfor a termination fee of $500,000 (but only in the event of a termination by reason of the Company’s
acceptance of a superior proposal), reimburse Hanfor’s transaction expenses, and/or repurchase the shares purchased under the Stock Purchase Agreement. The Share Exchange
Agreement may be terminated by any party if the closing of the Hanfor Exchange Transaction does not occur by November 1, 2020, which under certain circumstances can be
extended to March 31, 2021.
As part of an amended agreement with Maxim Holdings LLC, we issued them 100,000 restricted shares on January 8, 2020 and 86,000 restricted shares on April 13, 2020.
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Employment Agreement dated April 15, 2019, by and between the Company and Richard Russell (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.45 to the Annual
Report on Form 10-K filed on April 16, 2019)
Amendment to Employment Agreement of Carollinn Gould, dated April 15, 2019, by and between the Company and Carollinn Gould (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.46 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on April 16, 2019)
Amendment to Employment Agreement of Bruce M. Rodgers, dated April 15, 2019, by and between the Company and Bruce M. Rodgers(incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.47 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on April 16, 2019)
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10.18#
10.19#
10.20#
21.1*
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31.1*

Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
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Signatures
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by
the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized:
LM FUNDING AMERICA, INC.
Date: April 14, 2020

By:

/s/ Bruce M. Rodgers
Bruce M. Rodgers
Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board

KNOW ALL THESE PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Bruce M. Rodgers and Stephen Weclew and each of
them, jointly and severally, his attorneys-in-fact, each with full power of substitution, for him in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this Report on Form 10-K, and to file
the same, with exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, hereby ratifying and confirming all that each said attorneys-in-fact
or his substitute or substitutes, may do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this Report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant in the
capacities and on the dates indicated.
Name

Title

Date

/s/ Bruce M. Rodgers
Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of Directors
(Principal Executive Officer)

April 14, 2020

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)

April 14, 2020

Member of the Board of Directors

April 14, 2020

Andrew Graham

Member of the Board of Directors

April 14, 2020

/s/ Martin A. Traber

Member of the Board of Directors

April 14, 2020

Member of the Board of Directors

April 14, 2020

Member of the Board of Directors

April 14, 2020

Member of the Board of Directors

April 14, 2020

Bruce M. Rodgers

/s/ Richard Russell
Richard Russell

/s/ Carollinn Gould
Carollinn Gould

/s/ Andrew Graham

Martin A. Traber

/s/ Joel Rodgers
Joel Rodgers

/s/ Douglas McCree
Douglas McCree

/s/ Frederick Mills
Frederick Mills
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Exhibit 4.8
Description of Securities Registered Under Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended
As of December 31, 2019, LM Funding America, Inc. (the “Company,” “we,” “us,” and “our”) had two classes of securities registered under Section 12 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), (i) our common stock, par value $0.001 per share (“Common Stock”) and (ii) our warrants to purchase
common stock (“Warrants”).
The following description of our Common Stock and Warrants is a summary and does not purport to be complete. It is subject to and qualified in its entirety by
reference to our Certificate of Incorporation, as amended (our “Certificate of Incorporation”), our By-Laws (our “By-Laws”), and the terms of the Warrant Agreements for our
outstanding Warrants (the “Warrant Agreements”), each of which is filed as an exhibit to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019 and
incorporated by reference herein. We encourage you to read our Certificate of Incorporation, our By-Laws, the Warrant Agreements and the applicable provisions of the
General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (the “DGCL”) for additional information.
Common Stock
Authorized Capital Stock. Under our Certificate of Incorporation, we are authorized to issue 30,000,000 shares of Common Stock, par value $0.001 per share, and
5,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value $0.001 per share, in one or more series designated by our board of directors (the “Board of Directors”).
Voting Rights. The holders of our Common Stock are entitled to one vote per share. Holders of our common stock are not entitled to cumulate their votes in the
election of directors. Generally, all matters to be voted on by stockholders must be approved by a majority (or, in the case of election of directors, by a plurality) of the votes
entitled to be cast by all holders of Common Stock present in person or represented by proxy, voting together as a single class. The number of authorized shares of Common
Stock may be increased or decreased (but not below the number of shares then outstanding) by (in addition to any vote of the holders of one or more series of preferred stock
that may be required to vote pursuant to the terms of our Certificate of Incorporation) the affirmative vote of holders of shares of capital stock of the Company representing a
majority of the votes represented by all outstanding shares of capital stock of the Company entitled to vote, irrespective of any of the provisions of the DGCL.
Dividends. Holders of our Common Stock will share ratably (based on the number of shares of Common Stock held) if and when any dividend is declared by the
Board of Directors out of funds legally available therefor, subject to any statutory or contractual restrictions on the payment of dividends by us and subject to any restrictions or
preferential rights on the payment of dividends imposed by the terms of any outstanding series of preferred stock.
Liquidation Rights. In the event of our liquidation, dissolution or winding up, the holders of our Common Stock are entitled to share ratably in all assets of the
Company remaining after the payment of its liabilities, subject to the prior distribution rights of any series of preferred stock then outstanding.
Other Rights. Our Common Stock is not subject to redemption nor do holders of our Common Stock have any preemptive rights to purchase additional shares of
Common Stock. Holders of shares of our Common Stock do not have subscription, redemption or conversion rights. There are no redemption or sinking fund provisions
applicable to the Common Stock. All of the outstanding shares of Common Stock are validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable.
Reverse Stock Split. On October 15, 2018, the Company effected a consolidation of its Common Stock (the “Reverse Stock Split”) by means of a one-for-ten
(1:10) reverse split of its outstanding Common Stock, par value $0.001 per share. As a result of the Reverse Stock Split, every ten shares of Common Stock were consolidated
into one share of Common Stock, effective as of October 16, 2018.
Listing on The Nasdaq Global Market. Our Common Stock is listed on The Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol “LMFA”.

Preferred Stock
Our Certificate of Incorporation provides that our Board of Directors has the authority, without action by the stockholders, to designate and issue up to 5,000,000
shares of preferred stock in one or more classes or series and to fix the powers, rights, preferences, and privileges of each class or series of preferred stock, including dividend
rights, conversion rights, voting rights, terms of redemption, liquidation preferences and the number of shares constituting any class or series, which may be greater than the
rights of the holders of the Common Stock. Currently, the Company has no shares of preferred stock outstanding.
Warrants
As of December 31, 2019, the Company had 3,843,587 outstanding Warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 2,879,287 shares of Common Stock as follows:
•
•
•
•

1,200,000 Warrants to purchase up to 120,000 shares of Common Stock that were issued by the Company on October 23, 2015 in connection with the
Company’s initial public offering, and these Warrants are listed on the The Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol “LMFAW”;
140,387 Warrants to purchase up to 143,587 shares of Common Stock that were issued by the Company on April 2, 2018 in connection with a private debt
transaction and related securities purchase agreement;
2,490,700 Warrants to purchase up to 2,490,700 shares of Common Stock that were issued by the Company on October 31, 2018 in connection with the
Company’s secondary offering; and
125,000 Warrants to purchase up to 125,000 shares of Common Stock that were issued by the Company on May 1, 2019 pursuant to the Underwriting Agreement
(as defined below) entered into in connection with the Company’s secondary offering on October 31, 2018.

Initial Public Offering Warrants
Amount of Warrants and Shares Issuable.
As part of its initial public offering, on October 23, 2015 the Company issued Warrants that allowed for the
right to purchase 1,200,000 shares of Common Stock at an average exercise price of $12.50 per share the (“IPO Warrants”). Due to the Reverse Stock Split on October 16,
2018, each IPO Warrant may only purchase one-tenth of one share of Common Stock at an exercise price of $125.00, meaning that such IPO Warrants now represent the right
to purchase up to 120,000 shares of Common Stock. As of December 31, 2019 there were 1,200,000 IPO Warrants outstanding.
Duration and Exercise Price. The IPO Warrants have a weighted average exercise price of $125.00 per share. The IPO Warrants expire on October 23, 2020.
Exercisability and Cashless Exercise. The IPO Warrants are exercised by surrendering to the Company a warrant certificate evidencing the IPO Warrants to be
exercised, with the exercise form included therein duly completed and executed, and paying to the Company the exercise price per share in cash or check payable to it. At any
time while there is an effective registration statement available for the issuance of shares of Common Stock issuable pursuant to the IPO Warrants, the IPO Warrants may be
exercised only with a cash payment. If a registration statement is not available for the issuance of the underlying shares of Common Stock, the IPO Warrants may be exercised
on a cashless net-share basis. We are obligated under the IPO Warrants to use our best efforts to maintain an effective registration statement with respect to the issuance of the
underlying shares of Common Stock. Under no circumstances will a holder of IPO Warrants be entitled to settle the warrants for cash, even in the absence of an effective
registration statement.
Adjustment. As long as any of the IPO Warrants remain outstanding, the number of shares of Common Stock to be issued upon the exercise of the IPO Warrants,
and the exercise price thereof, will be adjusted in the event of one or more stock splits, readjustments or reclassifications. In the event of any of the foregoing, the remaining
number of shares of Common Stock still subject to the IPO Warrants shall be increased or decreased to reflect proportionately the increase or decrease in the number of shares
of Common Stock outstanding and the exercise price per share shall be decreased or increased, as the case may be, in the same proportion.
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Reservation of Shares. The terms of the IPO Warrants require that we have reserved a sufficient number of shares of Common Stock for issuance upon exercise
of the IPO Warrants and such shares, when issued in accordance with the terms of the IPO Warrants, will be fully paid and non-assessable.
Fractional Shares. No fractional shares of Common Stock shall be issued upon the exercise of an IPO Warrant, but rather the number of shares of Common
Stock to be issued shall be rounded up or down, as applicable, to the nearest whole number.
Rights as a Stockholder. The holders of the IPO Warrants as such are not entitled to vote, receive dividends or to exercise any of the rights of holders of shares of
Common Stock for any purpose until such IPO Warrants shall have been duly exercised and payment of the purchase price shall have been made. Under no circumstances will a
holder of IPO Warrants be entitled to settle the warrants for cash, even in the absence of an effective registration statement.
Cancellation. If for at least ten trading days within any period of twenty consecutive trading days, including the last trading day of the period, the closing price per
share of Common Stock exceeds 150% of the public offering price in the Company’s initial public offering, we may cancel any IPO Warrants remaining outstanding and
unexercised. The date upon which we may cancel such IPO Warrants must be a date which is more than thirty (30) calendar days, but less than sixty (60) calendar days, after a
notice is mailed by first class mail to all registered holders of the IPO Warrants following the satisfaction of the conditions described above, or such longer time as may be
required by regulatory authorities.
Private Placement Warrants
Amount of Warrants and Shares Issuable. On April 2, 2018, the Company entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement with a New York-based family office
(“Investor”) pursuant to which the Company issued to Investor five-year warrants to purchase 400,000 shares of Common Stock, exercisable at the closing per share bid price
on April 2, 2018 (the “Private Placement Warrants”). Due to the Reverse Stock Split and subsequent issuances of Common Stock and Warrants, including in connection with the
Secondary Offering (as defined below), the Private Placement Warrants now represent the right to purchase up to 143,587 shares of Common Stock at an exercise price of
$1.84 per share. As of December 31, 2019, there were 140,387 Private Placement Warrants outstanding.
Duration and Exercise Price. The Private Placement Warrants currently have an exercise price of $1.84 per share. The Private Placement Warrants expire on
April 2, 2023.
Exercisability and Cashless Exercise. The Private Placement Warrants are exercised by delivery of an exercise notice for the portion of the Private Placement
Warrants to be exercised, along with payment of the exercise price, either in immediately available funds or by means of a cashless exercise. If a registration statement is not
available for the issuance of the underlying shares of Common Stock for the Private Placement Warrants, the Private Placement Warrants may, at the option of the holder, be
exercised on a cashless net-share basis.
Adjustment. As long as any of the Private Placement Warrants remain outstanding, the number of shares of Common Stock to be issued upon the exercise of the
Private Placement Warrants, and the exercise price thereof, will be adjusted in the event of one or more stock splits, readjustments or reclassifications. In the event of any of the
foregoing, the remaining number of shares of Common Stock still subject to the Private Placement Warrants shall be increased or decreased to reflect proportionately the
increase or decrease in the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding and the exercise price per share shall be decreased or increased, as the case may be, in the same
proportion. In addition, in the event (i) we issue any rights, options or warrants entitling them to subscribe for or purchase shares of Common Stock (“Purchase Rights”) or (ii)
distribute any evidence of our indebtedness or assets (including cash or cash dividends) or rights or warrants to subscribe for or purchase a security other than our Common
Stock (a “Distribution”), to all of the holders of our Common Stock, the holders of the Private Placement Warrants, upon exercise of the Private Placement Warrants, will be
entitled to receive such Purchase Rights or participate in such Distribution to the same extent as if they had exercised the Private Placement Warrants and received the
underlying shares of Common Stock as of immediately before the date of determination for the issuance of such Purchase Rights or Distribution. Furthermore, in the event the
Company undertakes a “fundamental transaction”, including any merger or business combination, sale of substantially all of its assets, tender offer or exchange offer, or similar
transaction,
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the holder of the Private Placement Warrants will be entitled to receive, upon exercise of the Private Placement Warrants, the same amount and kind of securities, cash or
property as it would have been entitled to receive upon the occurrence of the fundamental transaction, as if it had been the holder of the number of shares of Common Stock
issuable upon full exercise of its Private Placement Warrants. The Warrant Agreement for the Private Placement Warrants also includes a consent right on behalf of the holder
prior to the Company’s entrance into any such “fundamental transaction.”
Anti-Dilution Protection. In addition to the structural protections afforded the holders of the Private Placement Warrants described above, the Private Placement
Warrants also include full-ratchet anti-dilution protection in the event of subsequent issuances by the Company of shares of Common Stock, options or other securities
convertible into shares of Common Stock, including by way of adjustments to the option price or conversion rate of such options or convertible securities (subject to certain
exceptions).
Limitations on Issuance. The terms of the Warrant Agreement for the Private Placement Warrants includes a limitation on the issuance of shares of Common
Stock upon exercise of the Private Placement Warrants in the event that, following exercise of all or a portion of such holder’s Private Placement Warrants, the holder thereof,
along with such persons affiliates or others deemed a “group” under the rules of the Exchange Act, would be deemed to beneficially own greater than 4.99% of the Company’s
Common Stock, with beneficial ownership determined in accordance with Section 13(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
Reservation of Shares. The terms of the Private Placement Warrants require that we have reserved a sufficient number of shares of Common Stock for issuance
upon exercise of the Private Placement Warrants and such shares, when issued in accordance with the terms of the Private Placement Warrants, will be fully paid and nonassessable.
Fractional Shares. In the event that fractional shares will not be issued upon the exercise of the Private Placement Warrants, and no payment will be made with
respect to any fractional shares to which any Private Placement Warrant holder might otherwise be entitled upon exercise of the Private Placement Warrants.
Rights as a Stockholder. The holders of the Private Placement Warrants as such are not entitled to vote, receive dividends or to exercise any of the rights of
holders of shares of Common Stock for any purpose until such Private Placement Warrants shall have been duly exercised and the underlying shares of Common Stock for such
Private Placement Warrants shall have been received by the holder thereof.
Secondary Offering Warrants
Amount of Warrants and Shares Issuable. On October 30, 2018, the Company entered into an underwriting agreement (the “Underwriting Agreement”) with
Maxim Group LLC (the “Underwriter”) with respect to the issuance and sale, in an underwritten public offering (the “Secondary Offering”), of (i) 1,005,000 units (the “Units”),
with each Unit being comprised of one share of our Common Stock, and one Warrant to purchase one share of our Common Stock (the “Common Warrants”), (ii) 1,495,000
pre-funded units (the “Pre-Funded Units”), with each Pre-Funded Unit being comprised of one pre-funded Warrant to purchase one share of our Common Stock at an exercise
price of $.01 per share (the “Pre-Funded Warrants”) and one Common Warrant. The shares of our Common Stock and Common Warrants included in the Units, and the
Common Warrants and Pre-Funded Warrants included in the Pre-Funded Units, were offered together, but the securities included in the Units and Pre-Funded Units were issued
separately. As of December 31, 2019, there were [________] Pre-Funded Warrants and 2,490,700 Common Warrants outstanding.
Pre-Funded Warrants
Duration and Exercise Price. Each Pre-Funded Warrant has exercise price of $0.01 per share of Common Stock. The Pre-Funded Warrants expire on November
1, 2023.
Exercisability and Cashless Exercise. The Pre-Funded Warrants are exercisable, at the option of each holder, in whole or in part, by delivering to us a duly
executed exercise notice accompanied by payment in full for the
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number of shares of our Common Stock purchased upon such exercise (except in the case of a cashless exercise as discussed below). If a registration statement is not available
for the issuance of the underlying shares of Common Stock, the Pre-Funded Warrants may be exercised on a cashless net-share basis.
Adjustment. As long as any of the Pre-Funded Warrants remain outstanding, the number of shares of Common Stock to be issued upon the exercise of the PreFunded Warrants, and the exercise price thereof, will be adjusted in the event of one or more stock splits, readjustments or reclassifications. In the event of any of the foregoing,
the remaining number of shares of Common Stock still subject to the Pre-Funded Warrants shall be increased or decreased to reflect proportionately the increase or decrease in
the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding and the exercise price per share shall be decreased or increased, as the case may be, in the same proportion. In addition, in
the event (i) we issue any rights, options or warrants entitling them to subscribe for or purchase shares of Common Stock (“Purchase Rights”) or (ii) distribute any evidence of
our indebtedness or assets (including cash or cash dividends) or rights or warrants to subscribe for or purchase a security other than our Common Stock (a “Distribution”), to all
of the holders of our Common Stock, the holders of the Pre-Funded Warrants, upon exercise of the Pre-Funded Warrants, will be entitled to receive such Purchase Rights or
participate in such Distribution to the same extent as if they had exercised the Pre-Funded Warrants and received the underlying shares of Common Stock as of immediately
before the date of determination for the issuance of such Purchase Rights or Distribution. Furthermore, in the event the Company undertakes a “fundamental transaction”,
including any merger or business combination, sale of substantially all of its assets, tender offer or exchange offer, or similar transaction, then the Pre-Funded Warrant will
become the right thereafter to receive, upon exercise, the number of shares of Common Stock of the successor or acquiring corporation (or the Company, if it is the survivor)
and any additional consideration receivable upon such a fundamental transaction by holders of shares of Common Stock immediately prior to such fundamental transaction.
Limitations on Issuance. The terms of the Pre-Funded Warrants include a limitation on the issuance of shares of Common Stock upon exercise of the Pre-Funded
Warrants. A holder (together with its affiliates) may not exercise any portion of a Pre-Funded Warrant to the extent that the holder would own more than 4.99% of the
Company’s outstanding Common Stock immediately after exercise. However, any holder may increase such percentage to any other percentage not in excess of 9.99%;
provided that any increase in such percentage shall not be effective until 61 days after the holder give notice to us of such increase.
Reservation of Shares. The terms of the Pre-Funded Warrants require that we have reserved a sufficient number of shares of Common Stock for issuance upon
exercise of the Pre-Funded Warrants and such shares, when issued in accordance with the terms of the Pre-Funded Warrants, will be fully paid and non-assessable.
Fractional Shares. Fractional shares will not be issued upon the exercise of the Pre-Funded Warrants. Rather, the number of shares of Common Stock to be
issued will, at our election, either be rounded up to the nearest whole number or we will pay a cash adjustment in respect of such final fraction in an amount equal to such
fraction multiplied by the exercise price.
Rights as a Stockholder. The holders of the Pre-Funded Warrants as such are not entitled to vote, receive dividends or to exercise any of the rights of holders of
shares of Common Stock for any purpose until such Pre-Funded Warrants shall have been duly exercised and the underlying shares of Common Stock for such Pre-Funded
Warrants shall have been received by the holder thereof.
Common Warrants
Duration and Exercise Price. The Common Warrants have an exercise price of $2.40 per share of Common Stock, subject to adjustment in certain circumstances,
as described further below. The Common Warrants expire on November 1, 2023.
Exercisability and Cashless Exercise. The Common Warrants are exercisable, at the option of each holder, in whole or in part, by delivering to us a duly executed
exercise notice accompanied by payment in full for the number of shares of our Common Stock purchased upon such exercise (except in the case of a cashless exercise as
discussed below). If a registration statement is not available for the issuance of the underlying shares of Common Stock, the Common Warrants may be exercised on a cashless
net-share basis.
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Adjustment. As long as any of the Common Warrants remain outstanding, the number of shares of Common Stock to be issued upon the exercise of the Common
Warrants, and the exercise price thereof, will be adjusted in the event of one or more stock splits, readjustments or reclassifications. In the event of any of the foregoing, the
remaining number of shares of Common Stock still subject to the Common Warrants shall be increased or decreased to reflect proportionately the increase or decrease in the
number of shares of Common Stock outstanding and the exercise price per share shall be decreased or increased, as the case may be, in the same proportion.In addition, in the
event (i) we issue any rights, options or warrants entitling them to subscribe for or purchase shares of Common Stock (“Purchase Rights”) or (ii) distribute any evidence of our
indebtedness or assets (including cash or cash dividends) or rights or warrants to subscribe for or purchase a security other than our Common Stock (a “Distribution”), to all of
the holders of our Common Stock, the holders of the Common Warrants, upon exercise of the Common Warrants, will be entitled to receive such Purchase Rights or participate
in such Distribution to the same extent as if they had exercised the Common Warrants and received the underlying shares of Common Stock as of immediately before the date
of determination for the issuance of such Purchase Rights or Distribution. Furthermore, in the event the Company undertakes a “fundamental transaction”, including any merger
or business combination, sale of substantially all of its assets, tender offer or exchange offer, or similar transaction, then the Common Warrant will become the right thereafter to
receive, upon exercise, the number of shares of Common Stock of the successor or acquiring corporation (or the Company, if it is the survivor) and any additional consideration
receivable upon such a fundamental transaction by holders of shares of Common Stock immediately prior to such fundamental transaction.
Anti-Dilution Protection. In addition to the structural protections afforded the holders of the Common Warrants described above, the Common Warrants also
include full-ratchet anti-dilution protection in the event of subsequent issuances by the Company of shares of Common Stock, options or other securities convertible into shares
of Common Stock, including by way of adjustments to the option price or conversion rate of such options or convertible securities (subject to certain exceptions).
Limitations on Issuance. The terms of the Common Warrants include a limitation on the issuance of shares of Common Stock upon exercise of the Common
Warrants. A holder (together with its affiliates) may not exercise any portion of a Common Warrant to the extent that the holder would own more than 4.99% of the Company’s
outstanding Common Stock immediately after exercise. However, any holder may increase such percentage to any other percentage not in excess of 9.99%; provided that any
increase in such percentage shall not be effective until 61 days after the holder give notice to us of such increase.
Reservation of Shares. The terms of the Common Warrants require that we have reserved a sufficient number of shares of Common Stock for issuance upon
exercise of the Common Warrants and such shares, when issued in accordance with the terms of the Common Warrants, will be fully paid and non-assessable.
Fractional Shares. Fractional shares will not be issued upon the exercise of the Common Warrants. Rather, the number of shares of Common Stock to be issued
will, at our election, either be rounded up to the nearest whole number or we will pay a cash adjustment in respect of such final fraction in an amount equal to such fraction
multiplied by the exercise price.
Rights as a Stockholder. The holders of the Common Warrants as such are not entitled to vote, receive dividends or to exercise any of the rights of holders of
shares of Common Stock for any purpose until such Common Warrants shall have been duly exercised and the underlying shares of Common Stock for such Common Warrants
shall have been received by the holder thereof.
Underwriter Warrants
Amount of Warrants and Shares Issuable. On May 1, 2019, the Underwriter exercised its option, pursuant to the Underwriting Agreement, to purchase Warrants
representing the right to purchase up to 125,000 shares of
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Common Stock, at an exercise price of $2.64 per share of Common Stock (the “Underwriter Warrants”). As of December 31, 2019, there were 125,000 Underwriter Warrants
outstanding.
Duration and Exercise Price. The Underwriter Warrants have an exercise price of $2.64 per share of Common Stock. The Underwriter Warrants expire on May 2,
2022.
Exercisability and Cashless Exercise. The Underwriter Warrants are exercisable, at the option of each holder, in whole or in part, by delivering to us a duly
executed exercise notice accompanied by payment in full for the number of shares of our Common Stock purchased upon such exercise (except in the case of a cashless exercise
as discussed below). If a registration statement is not available for the issuance of the underlying shares of Common Stock, the Underwriter Warrants may be exercised on a
cashless net-share basis.
Adjustment. As long as any of the Underwriter Warrants remain outstanding, the number of shares of Common Stock to be issued upon the exercise of the
Underwriter Warrants, and the exercise price thereof, will be adjusted in the event of one or more stock splits, readjustments or reclassifications. In the event of any of the
foregoing, the remaining number of shares of Common Stock still subject to the Underwriter Warrants shall be increased or decreased to reflect proportionately the increase or
decrease in the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding and the exercise price per share shall be decreased or increased, as the case may be, in the same proportion. In
addition, in the event (i) we issue any rights, options or warrants entitling them to subscribe for or purchase shares of Common Stock (“Purchase Rights”) or (ii) distribute any
evidence of our indebtedness or assets (including cash or cash dividends) or rights or warrants to subscribe for or purchase a security other than our Common Stock (a
“Distribution”), to all of the holders of our Common Stock, the holders of the Underwriter Warrants, upon exercise of the Underwriter Warrants, will be entitled to receive such
Purchase Rights or participate in such Distribution to the same extent as if they had exercised the Underwriter Warrants and received the underlying shares of Common Stock as
of immediately before the date of determination for the issuance of such Purchase Rights or Distribution. Furthermore, in the event the Company undertakes a “fundamental
transaction”, including any merger or business combination, sale of substantially all of its assets, tender offer or exchange offer, or similar transaction, then the Underwriter
Warrant will become the right thereafter to receive, upon exercise, the number of shares of Common Stock of the successor or acquiring corporation (or the Company, if it is the
survivor) and any additional consideration receivable upon such a fundamental transaction by holders of shares of Common Stock immediately prior to such fundamental
transaction
Limitations on Issuance. The terms of the Underwriter Warrants include a limitation on the issuance of shares of Common Stock upon exercise of the
Underwriter Warrants. A holder (together with its affiliates) may not exercise any portion of a Underwriter Warrant to the extent that the holder would own more than 4.99% of
the Company’s outstanding Common Stock immediately after exercise. However, any holder may increase such percentage to any other percentage not in excess of 9.99%;
provided that any increase in such percentage shall not be effective until 61 days after the holder give notice to us of such increase.
Reservation of Shares. The terms of the Underwriter Warrants require that we have reserved a sufficient number of shares of Common Stock for issuance upon
exercise of the Underwriter Warrants and such shares, when issued in accordance with the terms of the Underwriter Warrants, will be fully paid and non-assessable.
Fractional Shares. Fractional shares will not be issued upon the exercise of the Underwriter Warrants. Rather, the number of shares of Common Stock to be
issued will, at our election, either be rounded up to the nearest whole number or we will pay a cash adjustment in respect of such final fraction in an amount equal to such
fraction multiplied by the exercise price.
Rights as a Stockholder. The holders of the Underwriter Warrants as such are not entitled to vote, receive dividends or to exercise any of the rights of holders of
shares of Common Stock for any purpose until such Underwriter Warrants shall have been duly exercised and the underlying shares of Common Stock for such Underwriter
Warrants shall have been received by the holder thereof.
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Anti-Takeover Provisions
Our Certificate of Incorporation and By-Laws
Our Certificate of Incorporation and our By-Laws contain provisions that may delay, defer or discourage another party from acquiring control of us. We expect
that these provisions, which are summarized below, will discourage coercive takeover practices or inadequate takeover bids. These provisions are also designed to encourage
persons seeking to acquire control of us to first negotiate with the Board of Directors, which we believe may result in an improvement of the terms of any such acquisition in
favor of our stockholders. However, they also give the Board of Directors the power to discourage acquisitions that some stockholders may favor. These provisions are
described further below.
Staggered Board. Our Certificate of Incorporation provides that our Board of Directors will be divided into three classes, each of which will generally serve for a
term of three years with only one class of directors being elected in each year. As such, at a given annual meeting, only a portion of our Board of Directors may be considered
for election. Since our “staggered board” may prevent our stockholders from replacing a majority of our Board of Directors at certain annual meetings, it may entrench our
management and discourage unsolicited stockholder proposals.
Undesignated Preferred Stock. Our Certificate of Incorporation provides our Board of Directors with the ability to designate the terms of and issue a new series of
preferred stock. The purpose of authorizing our Board of Directors to issue preferred stock and determine its rights and preferences is to eliminate delays associated with a
stockholder vote on specific issuances. The issuance of preferred stock, while providing flexibility in connection with possible acquisitions, future financings and other
corporate purposes, could have the effect of making it more difficult for a third party to acquire, or could discourage a third party from seeking to acquire, a majority of our
outstanding voting stock. Additionally, the issuance of preferred stock may adversely affect the holders of our Common Stock by restricting dividends on the Common Stock,
diluting the voting power of the Common Stock or subordinating the liquidation rights of the Common Stock. As a result of these or other factors, the issuance of preferred
stock could have an adverse impact on the market price of our Common Stock and otherwise discourage a potential acquisition of the Company by a third party.
Special Meetings of Stockholders. Special meetings of stockholders may only be called by the Chairman of our Board of Directors, the Chief Executive Officer or
the Secretary pursuant to a resolution adopted by a majority of the directors then in office, or by stockholders holding at least a majority of the issued and outstanding voting
stock of the Company. The only matters that may be considered at any special meeting of the stockholders are the matters specified in the notice of the meeting.
Stockholder Notice Provisions. Our By-Laws establish advance notice procedures with respect to stockholder proposals and the nomination of candidates for
election as directors, other than nominations made by or at the direction of our Board of Directors or a committee of the Board of Directors. Our By-Laws also provide certain
form requirements for any such proposal delivered in accordance with the advanced notice procedures set forth therein.
No Stockholder Written Consent in Lieu of Meeting. Our By-Laws provide that any action required or permitted to be taken by the stockholders of the Company
must be effected at an annual or special meeting of stockholders of the Company and may not be effected in lieu thereof by any consent in writing by such stockholders unless
the action to be effected by written consent of the stockholders and the taking of such action by written consent have been approved in advance by a resolution adopted by the
Board of Directors.
Delaware Law
Section 203 of the DGCL. In our Certificate of Incorporation, we elected not to be governed by Section 203 of the DGCL, which regulates corporate takeovers.
This section prevents certain Delaware corporations, under certain circumstances, from engaging in a “business combination” with an “interested stockholder.”

8

Exhibit 21.1
SUBSIDIARIES OF LM FUNDING AMERICA, INC.
Except as indicated below, all of the following subsidiaries are 100% owned by LM Funding, LLC, a Florida limited liability company:
NAME OF SUBSIDIARY
LM Funding, LLC (1)
LM Funding, LLC (1)
LMF October 2010 Fund, LLC
REO Holdings Management, LLC (2)
LM Funding of Colorado, LLC
LM Funding of Washington, LLC
LMF SPE#2, LLC
LM Funding of Illinois, LLC
LM Financial Partners, LLC
Central Florida Office Ventures, LLC
Data Investigative Services, LLC
Diligent Association Title, LLC
IIU, Inc (1)
Wallach & Company (3)
(1)
(2)
(3)

JURISDICTION OF ORGANIZATION
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Colorado
Washington
Florida
Illinois
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Virginia
Virginia

Owned 100% by LM Funding America, Inc.
REO Holdings Management owns a number of single purpose LLC entities for owning various properties
Owned 100% by IIU, Inc.

Exhibit 31.1
Certification of Chief Executive Officer
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
I, Bruce Rodgers, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of LM Funding America Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of
the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results
of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e)
and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which
this report is being prepared;
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure
controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and
the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.

April 14, 2020

/s/ Bruce Rodgers
Bruce Rodgers
CEO and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

A signed original of this document has been provided to LM Funding America, Inc. and will be retained by LM Funding America, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and
Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

Exhibit 31.2
Certification of Chief Financial Officer
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
I, Richard Russell, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of LM Funding America Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of
the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results
of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e)
and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which
this report is being prepared;
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure
controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and
the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.

April 14, 2020

/s/ Richard Russell
Richard Russell
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

A signed original of this document has been provided to LM Funding America, Inc. and will be retained by LM Funding America, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and
Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

Exhibit 32.1
Written Statement of the Chief Executive Officer
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350
Solely for the purposes of complying with 18 U.S.C. ss.1350, I, the undersigned Chief Executive Officer of LM Funding America, Inc. (the “Company”), hereby
certify, based on my knowledge, that the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the annual period ended December 31, 2019 as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on April 14, 2020 (the “Report”), fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and that
information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

April 14, 2020

/s/Bruce Rodgers
Bruce Rodgers
CEO and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

A signed original of this document has been provided to LM Funding America, Inc. and will be retained by LM Funding America, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and
Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

Exhibit 32.2
Written Statement of the Chief Financial Officer
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350
Solely for the purposes of complying with 18 U.S.C. ss.1350, I, the undersigned Chief Financial Officer of LM Funding America, Inc. (the “Company”), hereby
certify, based on my knowledge, that the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the annual period ended December 31, 2019 as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on April 14, 2020 (the “Report”), fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and that
information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

April 14, 2020

/s/ Richard Russell
Richard Russell
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

A signed original of this document has been provided to LM Funding America, Inc. and will be retained by LM Funding America, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and
Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

